INTRODUCTION

The Board of Directors of Saudi Hollandi Bank is pleased to present its annual report to the Bank's
valued shareholders for the financial year ended 31 December 2011.

During 2011 the Bank grew its net profit considerably by 31% to SAR 1,032 million. The Bank
maintained its conservative provisioning policy with the year-end coverage ratio at 145.5%. Capital
ratios remained robust positioning the Bank well to meet its 2012 growth targets and to satisfy
shareholder returns. Despite the backdrop of uncertainty in the West, confidence remained high in the
Saudi economy during the year which is expected to continue over the coming periods.

A summary of business developments during the year is presented in the Business Review section of
this report.

1- BUSINESS SEGMENTS

The Bank is organised into three main business segments, Corporate Banking, Personal Banking and
Treasury. In addition, the Bank provides brokerage, asset management and investment banking
services through Saudi Hollandi Capital, an effectively wholly-owned subsidiary. The Bank owns
20% in the Wataniya insurance company, effectively wholly-owns the bancassurance distribution
arm Saudi Hollandi Insurance Agency Company and effectively wholly-owns a subsidiary in support
of its real-estate related business, Saudi Hollandi Real Estate Company.

i) Corporate Banking

The Corporate Banking Group provides corporate, commercial and institutional clients with a wide
range of products and services including Term Loans, Trade Finance, Guarantees and Corporate
Finance and Advisory. It also offers an extensive range of Sharia’a-compliant corporate products
under Islamic structures.

ii) Personal Banking

The Personal Banking Group operates through a national network of branches and ATMs
complemented by a range of phone banking and e-banking services.

Products and services include Current and Time Deposit Accounts, Personal Loans, Credit Cards,
Internet Banking and Telephone Banking. Tailored “Preferred Banking” and “Taqdeer” services are
available to qualifying clients who place sufficient funds with the Bank. Share Trading services and
Fund Management products are available through Saudi Hollandi Bank’s subsidiary, Saudi Hollandi
Capital. The Bank also offers a wide range of Ladies Banking services through a network of Ladies
Branches.

iii) Treasury

Saudi Hollandi Bank’s Treasury unit provides hedging and investment solutions to the Bank's clients.
Building on its leading position in foreign exchange cash products, the Treasury department has
continued to grow its (structured) derivatives businesses in foreign exchange and special commission
rates. Treasury is among the most active interbank market makers in Saudi Riyal-denominated foreign
exchange and special commission rate products.



The assets, liabilities and results of these segments are set out in Note 29 of the Consolidated
Financial Statements. Transactions between business segments are on normal commercial terms and
conditions. Funds reallocated between business segments attract a commission based upon a transfer
pricing mechanism designed to reflect appropriate funding costs.

The subsidiaries and associates of Saudi Hollandi Bank are provided below:

Saudi Hollandi Capital (SHC), an effectively wholly owned subsidiary of SHB commenced
business activities in early 2008 with the approval of SAMA and the CMA, and has since then been
involved in some significant deals. SHC engages as principle and agent in retail equity brokerage,
asset management, corporate finance and investment advisory activity, debt arrangement and
securities custody services.

Saudi Hollandi Real Estate Company (SHREC), an effectively wholly owned subsidiary of
SHB, commenced its business activities in early 2010 with the approval of SAMA. SHREC is
involved in the registration of real estate title deeds in support of the Bank’s Home Financing
products.

Saudi Hollandi Insurance Agency Company: (SHIAC), an effectively wholly owned
subsidiary of SHB, has completed its registration procedures. It is licensed in insurance activities.
The Company obtained SAMA’s approval in December 2011 and is expected to commence its
operations during 2012.

Wataniya Insurance: The Bank purchased a 20% equity stake in the Wataniya Insurance Company
during 2008. This strategic acquisition enables the Bank to have an insurance capability to
complement the existing retail banking offering. Wataniya was incorporated on 26th April 2010 and
commenced trading on 1st July 2010

Further details of subsidiaries and associates are covered in note 1 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

2- STRATEGY

2011 was the second year of the three-year Al-Heen strategy. Through execution of this strategy, the
Bank aims to become a competitive force in Personal Banking by providing a high quality service to
specific customer segments whilst diversifying and expanding its customer base in Corporate Banking.
Under Al-Heen, the Bank’s operations are being organised to align more closely with business units to
meet their commercial requirements more responsively.

The Personal Banking Group aims to become the leading financial services provider to affluent
individuals and professionals, competing on the basis of comprehensive, personalised quality service.
As part of this strategy, the focus on establishing an attractive branch network continues. As at 31
December 2011 SHB had 44 branches inclusive of 15 Jadies offices and 257 ATMs throughout the
Kingdom of which 31 were installed during the year. We continue to enhance our comprehensive and
competitive range of personal banking and card products for our customers in the affluent customer
segments (Private, Preferred and Taqdeer). Furthermore, we launched a major project to set up the
infrastructure to provide banking services to small-businesses.

SHB remains a strong force in corporate banking in the Kingdom. The Corporate Banking Group aims
to provide the best solutions with flawless service, focusing on mid to large corporate customers
within KSA.
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SHB Treasury, SHC and SHREC have positioned themselves as product and expertise providers to our
corporate and personal banking businesses. Our Treasury unit provides our corporate and personal
banking clients with hedging solutions and investment yield enhancement. SHC offers a full range of
brokerage, asset management and investment banking products. SHREC provides real estate purchase
and registration services in support of the Bank’s Home Financing business.

The Bank continues to invest in its Islamic business and is aiming to be a leader in this field. During
2011, the Bank held client awareness sessions to introduce the new generation of Shariah compliant
products which included the Islamic overdraft, receivable financing and Islamic treasury solutions.

3- RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk management is of great importance in a banking environment ensuring that policies set by the
Board are adhered to at all times. The Bank’s main business is corporate relationship banking in the
Kingdom Of Saudi Arabia. A large proportion of the corporate client base has a long-standing
relationship with the Bank, typically with stable credit histories that have experienced at least one
economic downturn. These characteristics enable the Bank to take a long term view and have
confidence in lending through the cycle. The Bank details its Risk Appetite and risk management
strategies and controls in its Internal Capital Adequacy Plan, (ICAAP) which is approved by the Board
and submitted to the regulator on an annual basis.

The chart below summarises the amount of Risk-Weighted Assets as at the end of 2011.

B Credit RWA's  ® Market RWA's ¥ Operational RWA's
It can be observed that the Bank is predominantly exposed to credit risk by virtue of it being a major
player in corporate banking.
The focus during the year for the Credit Risk Management division has been greater scrutiny of credit
quality whilst considering risk-based returns, selective asset growth that has led to higher levels of
diversification and lower levels of concentration and the implementation of new processes to manage
client excesses more efficiently.

Further details of the risks the Bank is exposed to are detailed in note 30, 32 and 33 of the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

4- FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The Board of Directors is pleased to report a net profit of SAR 1,032 million, a 31% increase
compared with 2010. Despite the back-drop of competitive market pricing putting pressure on lending
margins, revenues increased by 2.6% in the year supported by firm growth across many fee based
activities.



Loans and advances were 7.7% above the 2010 year-end position and 4.8% above the 2009 year-end,
closely approaching 2008 levels. Notably, balance sheet growth has been accompanied with a
substantial increase in quality. This is reflected by lower non performing loans (NPLs) and past dues
as compared to last year accompanied with a continued conservative approach to provisioning. The
coverage of NPLs increased to 145.4% from 124.4% and the non-performing loans to gross loan ratio
at year-end closed at 1.9%.

The Bank’s long established Corporate Banking franchise was positioned well to benefit from the
improving economic activity. During the year, Trade Services income increased by 8%, arrangement
fees increased by 46% and in concert with the Treasury unit, Foreign Exchange income increased by
22.6%.

Within the Personal Banking segment confidence increased in local share trading with fees increasing
by 25%. The year-end balance sheet for Personal banking closed at its highest level to date including a
positive start in home Joans growth.

A key objective under Al-Heen is cost control with operating expenses and capital expenditure being
constantly scrutinised. The cost-income ratio for the year was 40%, marginally higher than the prior
year at 39.5%, due largely to some unanticipated one-off operational costs. Underlying costs are in
alignment with management expectations with a number of initiatives to achieve operational
efficiencies being executed during 2011.

The Income vs Cost growth graph below, (excluding provisions), displays cost-management being
sustained across the periods.
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Keyv Business Unit financial data

Corporate Personal | Treasury | Investment Total
2011  SAR millions Banking Banking banking
and invest.

Services
Total assets 33,515 5,301 18,255 478 57,549
Total liabilities 20,869 17,127 12,120 24 50,140
Net operating income for the year 821 103 81 11 1,016
Key Bank-wide financial data and ratios
5-year trend SAR millions 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Loans 37,745 35,039 36,023 38,017 27,555
Investments 11,503 11,752 12,132 18,368 12,954
Total Assets 57,549 53,882 59,110 61,436 50,411




Deposits 45,024 41,604 44,827 43,012 34,605
Due to banks 1,611 2,857 5,757 9,286 9,158
Subordinated debt 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,475 700
Shareholders’ Equity 7,408 6,387 5,633 5,715 4,547
Net Profit 1,032 790 86 1,224 439
Earnings per Share — SAR 3.12 2.39 0.26 3.70 1.66
Gross Dividends per share - SAR 1.14 Nil Nil 0.88 0.80
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
NPLs (SAR'000s) 735 931 2,241 1,067 1,079
NPL % 1.9 2.6 6.2 2.8 3.9
Coverage % 145.5 124.4 100.2 107.8 110.0
Capital ratios (%)
- Tier 1 13.2 12.7 11.2 9.9 10.2
- Total 16.6 16.4 14.8 12.7 12.2
Loans to deposit (%) 814 81.3 77.8 85.5 78.0
Liquidity ratio (%) 26.2 28.8 38.0 27.7 37.3

In line with Kingdom-wide banking trends, the Bank saw the demand for credit increase, with year-
end loans and advances closing 7.7% above 2010 levels. The Bank’s capital ratios remained strong
with the total capital ratio closing the year at 16.6% and the Tier 1 closing the year at 13.2%, both of
which factor the proposed dividend for 2011. The current capital levels allow the Bank to meet its Al-
Heen growth strategy throughout 2012 and beyond without the requirement for further capital raising
whilst reinstating dividend payments, augmenting Tier 1 capital and issuing bonus shares (see not 16
to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

CAPITAL and CAPITAL RATIOS
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Conclusion

During 2011, the Bank was able to leverage its established corporate franchise and its increasing retail
presence to benefit from credit expansion and economic growth in the Kingdom. The year was
characterised by the continuation of selective asset growth improving asset quality, diversification and
a prudent approach to provisioning, all of which positions the Bank well to meet growth opportunities.
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5- GEOGRAPHICAL CONCENTRATION

Geographical distribution of credit risk is as follows:
Amounts in SAR ‘000)

AR ENDED 31

DECEMBER

Other

2011 Saudi GCC and Other
Arabia Middle Europe America countries Total

East
Assets
Cash and Balances with SAMA 5,968,777 - - - - 5,968,777
Due from banks and other
financial institutions 1,165 31,842 96,622 477,621 5,616 612,866
Investments, net 9,460,128 1,459,833 123,178 - 459,397 11,502,536
Loans and advances, net 37,297,073 448,226 - - - 37,745,299
Total 52,727,143 1,939,901 219,800 477,621 465,013 55,829,478
Credit-related Commitments
and Contingencies 17,865,743 337,748 468,036 74,329 1,260,733 20,006,589
Maximum credit exposure
(stated at credit equivalent
amount of the above
Commitments and
contingencies 9,108,276 245424 269,984 35,935 1,089,119 10,748,738
Derivatives 894,507 90,557 128,745 17,216 807,676 1,938,701

The three subsidiaries of the Bank SHC, SHREC and SHIC have no exposures outside the

Kingdom. Further details are provided in Note 31 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

6- KEY PROFIT AND LOSS ITEMS AS A PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL INCOME

The graph below displays the major profit and loss lines as a percentage of total income.
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The table below shows the variation in the key profit and loss lines between 2011 and 2010:

SAR millions 2011 2010 % change
Total Income 2,005 1,954 2.6%
Operating expenses 802 772 4%
Provisions (net) 187 398 (53%)
Other 16 6 144%
Net Profit 1,032 790 31%
Eamnings per share (SAR) 3.12 2.39 31%

7-FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS & AUDIT

The Bank prepares its Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with accounting standards for
financial institutions promulgated by the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency and International Financial
Reporting Standards. These include International Accounting Standards and interpretations issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board as required by the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency.

Proper books of account have been maintained. The Bank has an Internal Audit department which
submits its reports to the Audit Committee which in turn reports to the Board of Directors. This
Committee oversees the proper functioning and independence of the Internal Audit department and
considers its recommendations. The Committee has periodic discussions with the management,
internal and external auditors on matters affecting Consolidated Financial statements, internal controls
and various governance and control issues and has advised the Board of Directors accordingly. The
Board acknowledges receipt of that advice.

The Board of Directors ensures the safety of the Internal Audit System with regard to its structure and
is being efficiently implemented.

8- SAFETY OF INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM

The Audit committee is a sub-committee of the Board. In addition to maintaining a satisfactory control
environment and independence of the internal audit function, it reviews the specific internal audit
findings and ensures prompt resolution by management. The Audit committee relays its findings to the
Board on a regular basis. The Board is of the opinion that the functioning of the internal audit system
is appropriate and nothing has come to the attention of the Audit Committee that causes it to believe
that the system of internal control has not been properly designed and implemented.

9- SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

A. Saudi Hollandi Capital

SHC was formed in accordance with the Capital Market Authority's (CMA) Resolution number 1-39-
2007 under commercial registration number 1010242378 dated 30 Dhul Hijja 1428 H (corresponding
to January 09, 2008) to take over and manage the Group's Investment Services and Asset Management
activities related to dealing, managing, arranging, advising and taking custody of securities regulated
by CMA. SHC is effectively wholly owned by the Bank through direct and beneficial ownership and
commenced its operations effective 1 Rabi’ll 1429H (corresponding to April 8, 2008).. SHC head
office is in Riyadh, and it is operating within the Kingdom.

The authorized, issued and fully paid-up share capital of Saudi Hollandi Capital is SAR 400 million,
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consisting of 400,000 shares of SAR1,000 each.
B. Saudi Hollandi Real Estate Company

Saudi Hollandi Real Estate Company (SHREC), an effectively wholly owned subsidiary of the Bank
through direct and beneficial ownership, was established under commercial registration number
1010250772 dated 21 Jumada 1l 1429H (corresponding to June 25, 2008) with the approval of the
Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency (SAMA). SHREC engages in the activities of the purchase, sale and
leasing of real estate. It further engages in the registration of real estate title deeds of financed products
and manages real estate funds. SHREC head office is in Riyadh, and it is operating within the
Kingdom.

The authorized, issued and fully paid-up share capital of Saudi Hollandi Real Estate Company is SAR
500,000, consisting of 500 shares of SAR 1000 each.

C. Saudi Hollandi Insurance Agency Company

SHIAC an effectively wholly owned subsidiary of the Bank through direct and beneficial ownership
was established under commercial registration number 1010300250 dated 29 Muharram 1432H
(corresponding to January 4, 2011) with the approval of SAMA. The Company will act as an agent
selling Wataniya insurance products. The Company did not have any operating activities during the
year.

D. Wataniya Insurance

The Bank purchased a 20% equity stake in the Wataniya Insurance Company during 2008 at a cost of
SAR 20 million. It is classified as an associate company. This strategic acquisition enables the Bank to
have an insurance capability to complement the existing retail banking offering. Wataniya was
incorporated on 26th April 2010 and commenced trading on lst July 2010.

10- LONG TERM BORROWINGS

The borrowings comprise two tranches of Sharia’a compliant Subordinated Debt issued in 2008 and
2009 for SAR 775 million maturing in 2018 and SAR 725 million maturing in 2019, respectively.
Further details are provided in Note 14 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

11- DIVIDEND POLICY

A. Objectives

The main objective of the dividend policy is to provide a return to shareholders to meet their
investment expectations with due consideration given to capital management and growth requirements
of the Bank.

B. Type
The dividend may be paid in cash to shareholders or distributed via the issue of bonus shares or a

combination of cash and bonus shares may be used.

C. Declaration Frequency

Dividends may be declared bi-annually. The Board will review and decide whether an interim
dividend is to be paid based on the actual or forecasted half-year results, whilst the final dividend will
be decided upon based on forecasted or actual full-year results.

D. Review Frequency
The Board shall review the Dividend Policy for the current year on an annual basis. The review will
be on the agenda of the Board meeting where the previous year’s approved annual financial results and



the current year’s budget will be presented.

E. Guiding Principles

In reviewing and setting the annual dividend policy the Board and senior management will be guided
by the following principles:

I. Dividend sustainability

To build long term shareholder value and market confidence in the Bank’s future, the amount and
frequency of dividends to be paid should be evaluated based on the Bank’s ability to continue paying
at an equal or increased level in the foreseeable future. Risks that may threaten the Bank’s ability to
maintain current levels of dividends need to be identified and evaluated.

II. Growth of the Bank:
The amount, frequency and type of dividends paid should not impede the ability of the Bank to meet
its strategic growth plans.

IIL. Capital management:
During the annual review and while setting the dividend policy for the current year, the Board and
senior management must ensure the Bank:

Maintains sufficient levels of capital to meet the requirements as set out in the Bank’s ICAAP
as well as minimum regulatory capital requirements set by SAMA in accordance with Basel II
and Basel I capital requirements;

maintains sufficient levels of capital levels to support the Bank’s strategic growth objectives;
does not hold capital In excess of the requirements as summarized in items i) and ii) above.

12- PROPOSED CASH DIVIDEND AND BONUS SHARES

The proposed dividend for 2011 amounts to SAR 377.1 million representing 11% of the Bank’s
capital. Subject to approval at the Extraordinary General Shareholders Assembly due in the first
quarter of 2012, it shall be paid to the shareholders in the locations and on the dates set by the Board
of Directors.

During December 2011 the Board’s long-term commitment to support business growth was further
demonstrated by the proposal to increase the Bank’s capital by 20% from SAR 3,307.5 million to SAR
3,969 million. This will be facilitated through the distribution of 1 bonus share for every 5 shares held;
subject to approval at the Extraordinary General Shareholders Assembly due in the first quarter of
2012.

13- SIGNIFICANT SHAREHOLDINGS

Material shareholdings (i.e. in excess of 5%) remained unchanged during 2011.

' 1January 2011 31 December 2011 |

Shares Held 5_ % | SharesHeld | % | Change
| o | | %
| ABN AMRO Bank N. V. 132,300,000 | 40.0 | 132,300,000 | 40.0 | 0
| Olayan Saudi Investment Company | 688550001208 | o8.95600 | 083 0
| General Organization for Social Insurance 32,012,847 | 97 | 32,012,847 | 97 | 0

14- RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During its ordinary course of business, the Bank conducts business with its related parties. These
transactions are done undergoing the same fair dealing conditions of other parties and it is subject to the
limits stipulated in the Banking Control Law and instructions issued by the Saudi Arabian Monetary
Agency.

Note 35 to the audited Consolidated Financial statements summarises all related party transactions.
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15- BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The membership status of the Bank’s directors during 2011 and their directorships in Saudi listed
Companies were as follows:

Name Membership Directorship in other listed
Status Companies

Eng. Mubarak Abdullah Al-Khafrah Independent National Industrialization Co,

{Chairman) Malath Insurance Co.

Mrs. Lubna Sulaiman Al-Olayan Non-Executive -

HE.Dr. Fahad Abdullah Al-Mubarak Independent Etihad Itisalat Co. 'Mobily'

Mr. Sulaiman Abdullah Al-Kadi Independent -

Mr. Abdulhadi Shayif Independent Arab Cement Co. Lutd

Mr. Eyad Al-Hussain Non-Executive -

Mr. Jan Koopman Non-Executive -

Dr. Bernd van Linder Executive

Mr. Javier Maldonado Non-Executive

Mr. Simon Penney Non-Executive

The Board of Directors convened four times during the year as per the table below.

| Name Sessions Attended 15Jan 1_§'Ap}il 117 Aug | 15 Nov
| o2 2011 0 2011 ) 2011
Eng. Mubarak Al-Khafrah 4 ‘ v

(Chairman)
Mrs. Lubna Sulaiman Al- 3
Olayan
HE.Dr. Fahad Abdullah Al- | 4
Mubarak* -' B
| Mr.Sulaiman Abdullah . 4
AlKadi

| Mr. Abdulhadi Ali Shayif

| Mr. Eyad Abdulahman Al-

| Hussain 3
| Mr. Javier Maldonado
| Mr. Jan Koopman i
' Mr. Simon Penney |

Dr. Bernd van Linder
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*y/: Present X: Absent
*HE. Dr.Fahad Abullah Al-Mubarak resigned on 14-12-2011 following the issuance of the Royal
Order appointing him as Governor of the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency.

Board Committees:

The Board of Directors has three committees - the Executive Committee, the Audit Committee, and
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

I. Executive Committee

The Executive Committee is empowered by the Board of Directors in accordance with article 26 of the
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Bank's Articles of Association. The Executive Committee shall assist the Board of Directors within the
powers determined for it by the Board, and deal with all matters referred to it by the Board though the
committee shall not have power to alter any decision, rules or regulations taken or laid down by the
Board. It consists of the Chairman and four members of the Board (as below). The Executive
Committee convened 6 times during the year.

Members

Eng. Mubarak Al-Khafrah (Chairman)
{ Mrs. Lubna Sulaiman Al-Olayan

| Mr. Abdulhadi Ali Shayif
| Mr. Javier Maldonado

| Dr. Bernd van Linder

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is a sub committee appointed by the Board of Directors. The Committee is
responsible for all control issues of the Bank. This Committee oversees the functioning and
independence of the Internal Audit department and considers its recommendations. The Committee
has periodic discussions with management, the internal auditors and external auditors on matters
affecting Consolidated Financial Statements and internal controls and advises the Board of Directors
accordingly. The Audit Committee convened four times during the year.

Members

HE.Dr. Fahad Adbullah Al-Mubarak (Chairman)

Mr.Saleh Hassan Husain

Mr.Muffadal Abbas MohammedAli

Nomination and Remuneration Committee
In accordance with article (15) of the Corporate Governance regulation Issued by CMA decision no. 1-
212-2006 dated 21/10/1427H corresponding 12/11/2006 and after having the approval of General
Shareholders Assembly in its meeting held on 29" March 2008, the Board of Directors established a
separate committee for nomination and remuneration. The duties and responsibilities of the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee include the following:

1- Recommendation of appointments to the Board

2- Annual review of the requirement of suitable skills for membership of the Board of
Directors

3- Review the structure of the Board of Directors and the absence of conflict of interest of
their membership.

4- Establish clear policies for the remuneration of Board members and the Bank’s senior
management.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee convened 3 times during the year.

Members
Mr. Abdulhadi Ali Shayef (Chairman)

| Mrs. Lubna Sulaiman Al-Olayan

1

Mr. Eyad Al-Hussain

Mr.Javier Maldonado
| Mr.Sulaiman Abdullah Al-Kadi

The Bank’s compensation policies have also been amended where neceésary to éérﬁbly with the Basel
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16- BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

i
!

(Al amounts in SAR 000)

Board | Non-Executive

| monthly or annually)

. ! Executive
Datails ' | Members
| Salaries & Nil |
. Compensations . l
Allowances Nil
Annual &  Periodical Nil ’
|_Remunerations :
Incentives Nil |
T
Any other ) |
| Compensations or Nil
benefits (in kind paid

| Six Executive Managers |

Board : in the Bank Receiving

| Highest Compensation,
| including MD and CFO
1l 5 7.982
NI 1.655
ral Nil
Nil o 3.545
1380 :
* Nil

17- DIRECTORS & SENIOR MANAGEMENT INTERESTS (Including their Spouses and

minors)

Board Members

Including the 1000 qualification shares held by each Board Member during their term of office, shares
held by the Directors at the beginning and end of 2011 are set out in the table below.

Name

Shares Held as of

1°' Jan. 2011 Shares Held as of
31" Dec. 2011

Eng. Mubarak Abduliah Al-Khafrah (Chairman) 6,250 6,250
i Mrs. Lubna Sulaiman Al-Olayan 10,000 12,000
{ HE.Dr. Fahad Abdullah Al-Mubarak f 56,640 56,640
| Mr.Sulaiman Abdullah Al-Kadi | 500 1000
| Mr. Abdulhadi Ali Shayif | 150,000 150,000
| Mr. Eyad Adbulrahman Al-Hussain i 0 0
| Members appointed by ABN AMRO . 4000 4000
| Dr. Bernd van Linder 6,500 16,495

Senior Management:

Shares held by senior management at the beginning and end of 2011 are set out in the table below:

Name | Shared Held as Shared Held as of |
1 of 1" Jan 2011 31" Dec 2011

Farid Mustafa Zaouk Nil 9995

Musad Abdullah Al-Hammadi Nil 9995

Tahir Mohammed Al-Dabbagh - 1000 Nil

Abdullah Al-Hassan Nil 6330
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18- EXTERNAL AUDITORS

At the Annual Ordinary General Meeting of the Bank’s shareholders held on 23/04/1432 (28
March,2011), Messrs Deloitte & Touche Bakr Abulkhair & Co. and KPMG Al Fozan & Al Sadhan
were appointed as joint external auditors for the year ended 31 December 2011 for a total
remuneration of SR 934,000.00.

19- PAYMENTS OF ZAKAT, INCOME TAX & OTHERS
Zakat and income tax are paid as follows:

a. Saudi Shareholders

Zakat attributable to Saudi Shareholders for the year is an estimated SAR 94 million (2010: SAR 15
million), which will be deducted from their share of future dividends. Zakat of SAR 27 million paid in
prior years will be deducted from the current year's proposed dividend resulting in a net dividend of
SAR 1 per share.

b. Non-Saudi Shareholders

Income tax payable on the current year’s share of income of foreign shareholders is an estimated SAR
75 million (2010: SAR 62 million). Tax paid in prior years amounting to SAR 66.2 million and advance
tax paid during the year amounting to SAR 50 million, included in the current year's tax liability, will
be deducted from current year's proposed dividend resulting in a net dividend of SAR 0.26 per share.

The below table reflects major payments made to governmental agencies.

Payment (SAR 000) ] 2011 2010 |
Zakat & Income Tax 123,170 7,801
| GOSI 37,922 37,950
| Visas and passports 608 638
| Total | 161,700 46,389

20- SHARE PLAN

In January 2008, the Bank launched its Share Plan Program for its qualified staff. In accordance with
the provisions of this program, which was approved by the Board of Directors of the Bank in its
meeting dated 10 Dhu Algi’da 1428H (Corresponding to 20 November 2007G) and by Saudi Arabian
Monetary Agency via its letter dated 26 Saffar 1429H (Corresponding to 4 March 2008G), qualified
employees will receive the Bank’s shares if they meet the terms and conditions of the program.

Under the provisions of the program, the Bank shall not be the legal owner of those shares at any time.
Until the shares are vested, they will not acquire any voting rights. Also, according to the program,
SHC shall manage the Share Plan Fund and act in accordance with the terms and conditions approved
by the Bank’s Board of Directors in their above-mentioned meeting and in accordance with Saudi
Arabian Monetary Agency letter referred to above. Any other amendments on the terms and
conditions of this program shall require prior approval from the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency.

These are set out in Note 38 to the Consolidated Financial Statements titled 'Staff Share Plan'.
21-APPLICABLE REGULATIONS

Saudi Hollandi Bank has adhered to the provisions of the Banking Control Law, Saudi Companies’



Law, and regulations issued by the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency (SAMA) and the Capital Marke
Authority (CMA). In the event of conflicting regulation, the Bank adheres to the existing rules
governing banks and joint stock companies prior to the foundation of the Capital Market Authority.

During 2011 the Bank paid SAR 565,314 in respect of penalties levied by regulatory authorities in the
Kingdom as per the following table:

| Authority Imposing the Penalty . | Amount (SAR)

| Saudi Arabian Monetary Authority o | 250,314
Capital Markets Authority* o 315,000

 Total | 565,314

*Penalty imposed on the subsidiary Saudi Hollandi Capital

22- DECLARATIONS
The Board of Directors hereby declares that:

Proper books of account have been maintained

The Bank prepares its Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with accounting
standards for financial institutions promulgated by the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency and
International Financial Reporting Standards, including International Accounting Standards,
consistent with interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and as
required by the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency.

Internal Audit Control was properly and efficiently implemented.

The Bank has no existing contracts in which a Director, the MD, the CFO or any associate has
a material interest.

There is no doubt as to the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The Bank has implemented all provisions of the Corporate Governance Regulations issued by
CMA with the exception of the following:

- Applying the Accumulative Voting method in the nomination of the Board Members as
this issue requires the amendment of the articles related to the election of Board members
in the Bank's Articles of Association and the Companies Regulation.

23 CONCLUSION

The Board of Directors of Saudi Hollandi Bank extends its regards and gratitude to the government of
the Custodian of the Two Holy Mosques, King Abdullah bin Abdulaziz Al Saud, and to HRH the
Crown Prince, HE. the Minister of Finance, HE. The Minister of Commerce and Industry, HE. the
Governor of the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency and HE. the Chairman of the Capital Market
Authority for their continued support to the Banking community.

The Board of Directors also extends its thanks and appreciation to the shareholders, customers and
correspondents of Saudi Hollandi Bank for their continuing confidence and support.

Finally, appreciation must be given to the Bank's management and staff for their dedication and team
work, without which this year's achievements would not have been possible.

Board Of Directors
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS® REPORT

To the Shareholders of Saudi Hollandi Bank
(a Saundi Joint Stock Company)

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Saudi Hollandi Bank
(the “Bank™) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group™), which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2011, the consolidated
income statement, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in
shareholders” equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes from 1 to 41. We have not audited note 42,
nor the information related to “Basel 11 Pillar 3 disclosures” cross referenced therein, which is
not required to be within the scope of our audit.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Accounting Standards for Financial Institutions
issued by the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency (“SAMA?"), Intemational Financial Reporting
Standards, the provisions of the Regulations for Companies, the Banking Control Law in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and the Bank's By-Laws. In addition, management is responsible
for such internal controls as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based
on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and International Standards on Auditing. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether these consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the Bank’s preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Bank’s intemal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for aur audit opinion.



Deloitte & Touche
Bakr Abulkhair & Co.

Deloitte.

KPMG Al Fozan & Al Sadhan

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole:

» present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Group as at
December 31, 2011, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Accounting Standards for Financial Institutions in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia issued by SAMA and with International Financial
Reporting Standards; and

o comply with the requirements of the Regulations for Companies, the Banking Control
Law in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and the Bank's By-Laws in so far as they affect
the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

Deloifte & Touche

Bakr Abulkhair & Co. KPMG Al Fozan & Al Sadhan
P.O.Box 213 P.O. Box 92876

Riyadh 11411 Riyadh 11663

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Bakr A. Abulkhair Tareq A. Al Sadhan
Certified Public Accountant Certified Public Accountant
Registration No. 101 Registration No. 352

Rabi Al-Awa!l 19, 1433H
February 11, 2012
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at December 31, 2011 and 2010

Amounts in SAR’000

Notes 2011 2010
ASSETS
Cash and balances with SAMA 4 5,968,717 4,999,698
Due from banks and other financia! institutions L3 612,866 308,881
Investments, net 6 11,502,536 15,751,665
Loans and advances, net 7 37,745,259 35,038,979
Investment in an agsociate 8 17,750 20,000
Property and equipment, net 9(a) 489,499 495,216
Other assets 10 1,212,025 1,267,974
Total assets 57,548,752 53,882,413
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Liabilities
Due 19 banks and other financial institutions 12 1,611,091 2,857,012
Customers’ deposits 13 45,024,437 41,603,619
Subordinated debt 14 1,500,000 1,500,000
Other liabilities 15 2,004,902 1,534,826
Total liabilities 50,140,430 47,495,457
Shareholders’ equlty
Share capital 16 3,307,500 3,307,500
Statutory reserve 17 2,392,480 2,134,500
General reserve 130,000 130,000
Other reserves 18 (20,240) (29,916)
Reserve for bonus shares 16 661,500 -
Retained eamnings 556,077 820,691
Propased gross dividend 27 377,055 -
Staff share based plan reserve 38 3,950 24,181
Total shareholders’ equity 7,408,322 6,386,956
Total liabilitles and shareholders’ equily 57,548,752 53,882,413
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

Amounts in SAR’000

Special commission income

Special commission cxpense

Net speclal commission Income

Fee and commission income, net

Exchange income, net

Income from financial instruments designated as FVIS, net

Trading income, net
Gains on non-trading investments, net

Total operating Income

Salaries and employee related expenses
Rent and premises related expenses
Depreciation and amoriisation

Other general and administrative expenses
Other provisions

Impairment charge for credit losses, net

Impairment charge for investments
Total operating expenses
Net operating income for the year

Gain on sale of property
Share in loss of an associate

Net income for the year

Earunings per share (Expressed in SAR per share)

Basic and diluted EPS

s

The accompanying notes:! to 42 fo

Notes 2011 2000
20 1,566,505 1,624,997
20 276,910 337,666

1,289,595 1,287,331

21 519,203 454,827
109,526 89,345

22 5,040 5,389
23 76,030 86,197
24 5,852 30,994
2,005,246 1,954,083

25 440,432 426,669
75,953 73,755

9 101,775 92,223
183,863 179,559

19 16,333 -
7 (b) 160,776 388,726
6 (g 10,000 9,200
989,132 1,170,132

1,016,114 783,951

9(b) 18,057 6,480
8 2,250 -

1,031,921 790,431
26 302 2.39

knsolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the years ended December 3[, 2011 and 2010

Amounts in SAR’000
2011 2010
Net income for the year 1,031,921 790,431
Otber comprehensive income
Avallable for sale investments
- Net change in fair value 3,395 (14,305)
- Net amounts transferred to consolideted income statement 7,335 2,39
10,738 (11,911)
Cash flow hedges
- Effective portion of changes in fair value recognised (1,054) (29,391)
- Net change in fair value transferred to consolidated income stalement . 2,39]
(1,054) (27,000)
Total comprebensive Income for the year 1,041,597 751,520

\f\: _(__K_/x,_ A

Fard Zaouk

GMLeoal & Corporate Secretary

The accompanying notes 110 42 fo olidated financial statements,



=ankaria BHail

pneid EEsarnk

e

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS® EQUITY
For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

Amounts in SAR'000

ofes

041
Balanee at beglooleg of the

ysar
Toml camprehensive income for
the year
Swmff share based plan
ransactions 38

Transfer 10 smtutory reserve 17

Proposer boous shares

Proposed gross dividend

Balance at the end of the year

010

Balante a1 beginning of the year
Total comprehensive incame for
thee yerr

Swff share based plan

enrsactions 38

17

Trinsler to smrutory reserve

Balance st the end of the year

Orher
Siaff share

Avaifoble Reserve Proposed based Tota!
Share Sratutory General forsale  Cashflow for bonus  Refained grom Plan skarcholders’

Loplal e Rperve  [ayoments  fedees  gheres  pomeinge divigends  reave eanfiy
3,307,500 2,104,500 130,000 (19,096) (10.820) - $20,691 - 14,181 6,386,956
. - - 10,730  (1,054) - Lade2i - - 1,041,597
- - - - - - - - @wy  eown
- 157,980 - - - - {157.980) - - -
. - N - - 661,500 (661,500} - - -
- . - - - - (N0s5)  3TN088 - -
3,307,500 1,392,480 130,000 B.366) (11,874) 661,500 356,077 377,055 1950 7.408,322
3307.500 1936500 130,000 (7.18%) 16,180 228,260 - 21,567 5.632.821
- (11911 {27.000) - 790431 731.520
- 2,614 2614
- 198,000 - - (198.000) - - -
3307500 2,134,500 130,000 (19,096) (10.820) - 820,691 - 24,181 6,386,956

The accompenying notes | 42




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 20)0
Amounts in SAR'000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income lor the year
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash from / (used In) operating activities:

Accretion of discounts on non-trading investments, net
Gains on non-trading investments, net

Depreciation / amortisation 9(a)
Impairment charge for credit losses, net T(h)
Share in loss of an associate

Impairment charge for Investments 62
Staff share based plan expenses

Gain on sale of property

Net (Increase) / decrease in operaling assets:

Statutory deposit with SAMA

Due from banks and other financia] institutions maturing after
ninety days from the date of acquisition

Investments held s FVI1S (including trading investiments)

Loans and advances, net

Other assels

Net Increase / (decrease) in operating liabilitles:

Due to banks and other financta] mstitutions

Customers® deposits

Other liabilities

Net cash from / {used in) operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sales and maturities of non-trading investments

Purchase of non-trading investments

Acquisition of property and equipment 9(a)
Proceeds from sale of property

Net cash from investing activitles

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

Cash and cash equlvalents at end of the year 28

Special commission received during the year

Special commission paid during the year

upplemental o
Net changes in fair value and transfers to consolidated income statement

The gcclom?:'?'n}nying notes 1 10 42 foy
w
L

2011 2010
1,031,921 790,431
(176,706) (192,779)

(5,852) (30,994)

101,775 92,223
160,776 388,726

2,250 -

10,000 9,200
3,950 2,614
(18,057) (6,480)
1,110,057 1,052,941
(30,277) (132,214)
750 1,381
104,468 (3,685)
(2,867,096) 595,265
55,949 (237.886)
(1,245,921} (2,899,544)
3,420,818 (3,223,670)
470,076 141,775
1,018,824 (4,705,637)
16,181,262 9,642,386
(15,878,548) (9,083,150)
(106,501) (96,756)
28,500 12,405
224,713 474,885
1,243,537 (4,230,752)
3,079,604 7,310,356
4,323,141 3,079,604
1,647,128 1,706,210
301,906 452,740
9,676 38,911
LT"&-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

GENERAL

Saudi Hollandi Bank (the "Bank"), is & Saudi Joint Stock Company incorporated in the Kingdom of Saudi Ambia and was formed pursuant to
Royal Decree No. M/85 dated 29 Dhul Hijjah 1396H (corresponding to December 20, 1976). The Bank commenced business on 16 Shaaban
1397H (corresponding to August 1, 1977) when it took over the opemations of Algemene Bank Nederland N.V. in the Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia. The Bank operates under commercial registration No. 1010064925 dated 6 Jumada 1} 1407H (corresponding to February 4, 1987)
through its 44 branches {2010: 44 branches) in the Kingdom of Ssudi Arabia. The postal address of the Bank’s head office is:

Saudi Hollandi Bank
Head Office

Al-Dhabab Street

P O Box 1467

Riyadh 11431

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

The consolidated financial statements comprise of the financial statements of the Bank and its subsidiaries (collectively referred 1o as "the
Group"). The details of these subsidiaries are set out beiow:

Saudi Hoilend! Caplital (SHC)

SHC was formed in accordance with the Capital Mearket Authority's (CMA) Resotution number 1-39-2007 under commercial registration
number 1010242378 dated 30 Dhul Hijja 1428 H (comresponding to January 09, 2008) to teke over and manage the Group's Investment
Services and Asset Management activities related to dealing, managing, arranging, advising and teking custody of securities regulated by
CMA. SHC is effectively wholly owned by the Bank through direct and beneficial ownership and commenced its operations effective 1
Rabi'l[ 1429H (comesponding to April 8, 2008).

Saudi Holiandl Real Estate Company (SHREC)

SHREC an effectively wholly owned subsidiary of the Bank through direct and beneficial ownership, was established under commercial
registration number 1010250772 dated 21 Jumada [l 1429H (corresponding to fune 25, 2008) with the approval of the Saudi Arabian
Monetary Agency (SAMA).

Saudi Hollandl Insurance Company (SHIC)

SHIC an effestively wholly owned subsidiary of the Bank through direct and bencficial ownership was established under commercial
registration nwmber 101030025¢ dated 29 Muharrem 1432H (comresponding to January 4, 2011) with the approval of SAMA. The Company
will act as an agent for Watmniya Insurance Company’s, an associate, insurance products. The Company did not have any operating activities
during the year.

The objective of the Group is to provide a full mnge of banking and investment services. The Group also provides to its customers Islamic
(non commission based) banking products which are approved and supervised by an independent Shariah Board.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with Accounting Standards for Financiel Instittions promulgaled by
SAMA and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS} issued by Intermational Accounting Standards Board (JASB). The Group
prepares its consolidated financial statements to comply with the requirements of Banking Control Law, the Regulations for Companies in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arebia and the Bank's Articles of Association.

b) Basis of measurement

The consclidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention except for the following material items in the
statemnent of financial position:

- assets and liabilities held for trading are measured et fair value;

- financial instruments designated ai fair value through Income Statemeni (FV15) are measured at fair value;

- derivatives which are held at fair value;

- available for sele investments are measured at fair value; and

- recognised financial assets and financial liabilities designated as hedged items in qualifying fair value hedge relationships are adjusted

for changes in fair value atmributable to the risk being hedged.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

¢) Functionsl and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Saudi Amabian Riyals (SAR), which is the Group's fimctional currency. Except as
indicated, financial information presented m SAR has been rounded off to the nearest thousand.

d) Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the consolideted financial statements in conformity with JFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities. 1t also requires management (o exercise its judgement in
the process of applying the Group’s aecounting policies. Such judgements, estimates, and assumptions are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience end other factors, including expectations of future cvents that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances and obtaming professionsl advice. Significant arcas where management has used estimaies, assumptions or exercised
judgements are as follows:

(T) Impairment for credit losses on loans and advances

Management reviews its loan portfolios (o assess specific and collestive impairment on a quarterly basis. In determining whether an
impairment loss should be recorded management applies judgement when essessing whether there is any observable data indicating that there
is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows. This evidence may include observable data indicating there has been an edverse
change in the payment status of borrowers in a group. Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for loans with similar
credit tisk characteristics where objective evidence of impairment exists. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the
amount and the timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actugl loss
experience.

(i) Falr value of unquoted financial Instruments

Fair values of financial instruments that are not quoted in active merkets are determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation
techniques {for example, models) are validated and periodically reviewed by qualified personnel independent of the ares that created them,
Models are calibrated w0 ensure that outputs reflect actual data and comparative market prices. To the extent practical, models use only
observable market data, however, areas such as credit risk (both own and counter party), volatilitics and correlations require Management to
apply judgement, This mclude considerations of liquidity and model inputs such as voletility for longer dated financial instruments,
discounts, prepaymenis and défault rate essumptions for asset backed securities. Changes in agsumptions about these factors could aiTect
reported fair value of financial instruments,

(lii) Impairment of available-for-sale equity investments

Management exercises judgement to consider impairment of available-for-sale equity investments. This includes determination of a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair velue of equity investments below its cost. In making this judgement, management evaluates,
among other factors, the normal volatility in its share price. In addition, Management considers impairment to be appropriate when there is
evidence of deterioration in the financial health of the investee, industry or secior performance, changes in technology, operational and
financing cash flows.

(iv) Classification of held-to-maturity investments

The Group follows the guidance of [AS 39 in classifying non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturity &s held-to-maturity. In making this judgement, Management evaluates its intention and ability to hold such investments 1o mamrity,

e) Goling concern

Management has made an assessment of the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied that the Group has the resources to
continue in business for the foresecable future. Furthermore, Management is not aware of any material uncertaintics that may cast significant
doubt upen the Group's ability to continue as a going concemn. Therefore, the consolidated financial statements continue to be prepared on
the going concern basis.

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2010, except for the edoption of amendments to the existing stondards as mentioned below. The Group hes adopted the following
amendments and interpretations retrospectively, which had no material impact on its consolidated financial statements of the Group.

- Amendments to IAS | - Presentation of Financial Statements

The amendments clerify that the classification of the liability component of a convertible instrument as current or non-current is not
affected by terms that could, at the option of the holder of the instrument, result in scitlement of the liability by the issue of equity
instrumnents.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

- Amendments (o0 JAS 7 - Statements of Cash Flows
The amendments clanify that only expenditures that result in the recognition of an asset can be classified as o cash flow from investing
activities.

- IAS 24 - Reloted Party Disclosures (Revised 2009}

The revised [AS 24 - Related Party Disclosures amends the definition of related party and modifies certain related party disclosure
requirements for government related entitties.

- Amendnients to IFRS 7 — Financlal Instramenis: Disclosares Trensfers of Financlal Assets

These amendments introduce new disclosure requirements about transfers of financial assets, including disclosures for financial
asgets that are not derecognised i their entirety and financial assets that are derecognised in their entirety but for which the entity
retains continuing involvement.

- Improvemenis to IFRSx 2010 — IFRS 7 - Financlal Instruments: Disclosures

The amendments add an explicit statement that qualitative disclosure should be made in the contact of the quantitative disclosures to
better enable users to evaluate an entity's exposure to risks arising from financial instruments. In addition, the IASB amended and
removed existing disclosure requirements.

- Improvemenis te IFRSs 2010 — IFRIC I3 Cusfomer Loyalty Programmes

The amendments clarify that the fair value of award credits take into account the amount of discounts or mcentives that otherwise
would be offered to customers that have not eamed the award credits.

Other amendments resulting from the improvements to IFRIC 19, IFRIC 13, IFRS 1, 1AS 32 and IFRS 3 did not have a material impact on
the accounting policies, financial position and performance of the Group.

a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Saudi Hollandi Bank and its subsidiaries and are drawn up to
December 31 of each year. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as that of the Bank and
changes have been made 1o accounting policies where necessary 10 align them with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Subsidiaries are enlities over which the Group has the power to govern financial and operating policies, so as to obtain benefits from its
activities and generally accompany a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Bank and cease to be consolidated from the date on which the control is transferred from the Bank. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared using uniform accounting policies and valuation methods for like transactions and other
events in similar circumstances.

Intra-group balances and any income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions arc eliminated in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unreelised gains but only 1o the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

b} Investments in assoclates

Investments in associates are initielly recognised at cost and subsequently equity accounted, based on annual audited or latest available
reviewed financial stalements. An associate is an entity in which the Bank holds 20% to 50% of the voting power and over which it has
significant influence but which is neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture. [nvestments in associates are carried in the statement of financial
position at cost, plus post-acquisition changes in the Group's share of net essets of the associate, less any impairment in the value of
individual investments.

¢} Trade date accounting

All regular-way purcheses and sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on trade date, i.e. the date that the Group commits to
purchase a transaction. ‘Regular way' purchases or sales are purchases or sales that require defivery within the time frame generally
established by reguletion or convention in the market place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

d) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Derivative financial instruments, including foreign exchange contracts, commission rate futures, forward rate agreements, currency and
commission rate swaps and options (both written and purchased) are measured at fair value. All derivatives are carried at its fair value as
assets where the fair value is positive and as liabilitics where the fair value is negative. Fair values are oblained by reference 10 quoted market
prices, discounted cash flow models and pricing models as appropriate. The treamment of changes in fair value depends on derivatives'
classification into the foliowing categories:

i) Derivatives held for trading

Any changes in the fair value of derivatives held for trading are taken directly to the consolidated income statement and disclosed in trading
income. Derivatives held for trading aleo include those derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting.

1) Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments are treated as seperale derivatives and recorded at fair value jf their economic
characteristics and risks arc not closely related 1o those of the host contract, and the host contract is not itself held for trading or designated at
fair value through income statement (FV1S). Embedded derivatives separated from the host contracts are carried at fair value i the trading
portfolio with changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated income statement.

i) Hedge accounting
The Gronp designates ceriain derivatives as hedging instrumens in qualifying hedging relationships.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified into two categories: (a) fair value hedges that hedge the exposure to changes in the
fair value of a recognised asset or liability (or assets or liabilities in case of portfolio hedging) or an unrecognised firm commitment or an
identified portion of such an asset, liability or firm commitment, that is attributable 10 a particular nisk and could affect the reported net gain
or losses; and (b) cash flow hedges which hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a particular risk associated
with a recognised asset or liability or to a highly probable forecasted transaction that affects the reported net gains or losses,

In order to qualify for hedge accounting, hedge should be expected to be highly effective, i.e. the changes in the fair value or cash flows of
hedging instrument should effectively offset corresponding changes in the hedged item, and should be reliably measurable. At inception of
the hedge, the risk management objective and sirategy is documented including the identification of the hedging instrument, the related
hedged item, the nature of risk being hedged, and how Management will assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. Subsequently
hedges are assessed for effectiveness on an ongoing basis.

Fair Value Hedges

When a derivative is designated as a hedging instrument in a fair value hedge relstionship, any gain or loss from re-measuring the hedging
instrument to fair value is recognised in the consolidated income staternent together with the change in the fair vatue of the hedged item
attributable to the hedged risk.

For hedged items measured at amortised cost, where the fair valne hedge of a commission bearing financial instrument ceases to meet the
criteria for hedge accounting or is so0ld, excrcised or terminated, the difference between the carrying value of the hedged item on termination
and the face value is amortised over the remaining 1erm of the original hedge using the effective yield basis. If the hedged item is
derecognised, the unamortised fair value adjustment is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement.

Cash Flow Hedges

When a denivative is designated hedge in a cash flow hedge relationship, the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging insrument that is
determined 10 be effective is recognised directly in other comprehensive income whereas the meffective portion, if any, is recognised in the
consolidated income statement. For cash flow hedges affecting future transaetions, the fair value gains or losses recognised in other reserves
are transferred 1o the consolidated income statement in the same peried in which the hedged transaction affects the consolidated income
slatement.

Where the hedged forecasted transaction results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or liability, the associated gain or loss that hed
previously been recognised directly in other comprehensive income are mcluded in the initial measurement of the acquisition cost or other
carrying amount at the time such asset or liability is recognised. When the hedging instrument expires, is sold, terminated, exercised, no
longer qualifies for hedge accounting the forecasted transaction is no longer expected to occur or the Group revokes the designation, any
cumulative gain or loss on the cash flow hedging instrument that was recognised in other comprehensive income is relained until the
forecasied transaction occurs. Where the hedged forecasted transaction ig no longer expected to occur, the net cumulalive gain or loss
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehiensive income is transferred 1o the consolidated income statement for the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

¢) Forelgn currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are manslated into Saudi Arabien Riyals at the spot exchange rates prevailing at transaction date. Monetary
assets and liabilities at year-end, denominated in foreign currencies, are translated into Saudi Arabian Riyals at the exchange rates preveiling
at the reporting date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional currency
at the beginning of the year adjusted for effective interest and payments during the year, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated
at the exchange rate at the end of the year. All differences arising on non-trading activities are taken to other non operating income in the
consolidaied income staternent, with the exception of differences on foreign curmency bormmowings that provide an effective hedge against a net
investment in foreign entity.

Foreign exchange gains or lesses on translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated income statement, except for differences arising on the retranslation of available for sale equity instruments, Translation gains or
losses on non-monetary ilems carried at fair value are included as part of the fair value adjustment either in the consolidaled income staternent
or in other comprehensive mcome depending on the classification of the underlying financial asset.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a forsign currency are translated using the exchange rales as at the date of
the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency arc translated using the exchange rates at the dae
when the fair valne is determined.

f) Offsetting financlal instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and reporied net in the consolidated statement of fmancial position when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and when the Group intends to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.

g} Revenue/ expense recognition
i) Special commission income and expenses

Special commission income and expense for all commission-bearing financial instruments, except for those classified as held for trading or
FVIS are recognised in the consolidated income statement on effiective yield besis. The effective yield is the rate that exacly discounts the
estimated future cash payments and receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or liability (or, where appropriate, & shorter
petiod) to the carrying amount of the financial asset or liability,. When calculating the effective yield, the Group estimates future cash flows
considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument but not future credit losses.

The carrying amount of the financial esset or financial liability is adjusted if the Group revises its estimates of payments or receipts. The
adjusted carrying amount is calculated based on the originel effective yield and the change in carrying amount is recorded as special
commission income or expense.

The caiculation of the effective yield takes into account all contractual lerms of the financiel instraments (prepeyment, options etc.) and
includes all fees and points paid or received, transaclion costs, and discounts or premiums that are an integral pari of the effective
commission rate. Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attribulable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial asset
ot a liability.

t§) Exchange income / foss
Exchange income/loss is recognised when eamed/incurred.
iii) Fees and comnission income

Fees and commission income that are not integral part of the effective yield calculation on & financial asset or liability is recognised when the
relaied service is provided as follows:

* Portfolio and other management advisory and service fees are recognised over the period of applicable service contracts.

+ Fees received on asset management, wealth management, financial planning, custody services and other similar services that are
provided over an extended period of time, are recognised over the period when the services are being provided.

* When a loan commitment is not expected 10 result in the draw-down of a Joan, loan commitment fees are recognised on a straight-
line basis over the commitment period,

*» Fees and commission expense relate mainly to transaction and service fees and are expensed as the services are received and are
disclosed net of the related fee and commission income.

iv) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive dividend is established. Dividends arc reflected as a component of net trading

incomne, net income from FVIS financial instruments or other operating income based on the classification of the related equity instrument.

10
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31,2011 and 2010

¥) Net trading income

Results srising from trading activities include all gains and losses from changes in fair value and related special commission income or
expense, dividends for financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading and foreign exchange differences. This includes any
ineffectiveness recorded in hedging transactions.

wl) Incomne / (Loss) from FVIS financial instruments

Net income from FVIS financial instruments relates to financial assets and liabilities designated as FVIS and include all reatised and
unrealised fair value changes, dividends, commisgion, and foreign exchange differences.

h) Day one profit

Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different to the fair value from other observable current market transactions in the same
instrument or based on & valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable markets, the Group imunediately recognises
the difference between the transaction price and fair value (a ‘Day one’ profit) in the consolidated income statement in “Net trading income’.
In cases where use is made of data which is not observable, the difference between the transaction price and model value is only recognised in
the consolidated income statement when the inputs become observable, or when the instrument is derecognised.

) Sale and repurchase agreements

Assets sold with a simultancous commitment to repurchase at a specified future date (repo agreements) continue to be recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position and are measured in accordance with relaled accounting policies for financial instrurents held as
FVIS, available-for-sale, held-to-maturity and other investments held at amortised cost. The counterparty liability for amounts received under
these agreements is included in “Due to banks and other financial institutions™ or "Customers' deposits". The difference between the sale and
repurchase prices is treated as special commission expense and is accrued over the life of the repo agreement on an effective commission rate
basis. Assets purchased with a corresponding commitment to resell at & specified future date (reverse repo agreements) are not recogmised in
the consolidated statement of financial position, as the Group does not obtain control over the assets. Amounts paid under these agreements
are included in “Cash and balances with SAMA™ or “Due from banks and other financial institutions™, The difference between the purchase
and resale prices ig treated as special commission income and accrued over the life of the reverse repo agresment on an effective yield basis.

J) Investments
Initial recognition

All investment securities are initially recopnised al fair value, plus for investments not held as FVIS, incremental direct transaction cost and
are subsequently accounted for depending on their classification as either held 1o maturity, FVIS, available for sale or other investments held
at amortised cost. Premiums are amortised and discounts accreted using Lhe effective yield basis and arc taken to special commission income.

Fair value

For securities traded in organjsed financial markets, fair value is determined by reference to quoted market bid prices at the close of business
on the date of the consolidated statement of financial position. Fair value of managed assets and investments in mutual funds are determined
by reference to declared net asset values,

For securities where there is no quoted market price, a reasonable estimate of the fair value is determined by reference to the current market
value of another instrument which is substantially the same, or is based on the expected cash flows or the underlying net nsset base of the
security. Where the fair values cannot be detived from active markets, they are determined uvsing a variety of valuation rechniques that mclude
the use of mathematical models. The input to these models is taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a
degree of judgment is required in establishing fair values.

Reclassificatlon

Investments at FVIS are not reclassified subsequent 1o their initial recognition, except that non-derivative FVIS instrument, other than those
designated as FVIS upon initial recogmition (i.c. trading investments), may be reclassified out of the FVIS category if they are no longer held
for the purpose of being sold or repurchased in the near term, and the following conditions are met:

+ [f the investments would have met the definition of "held ar amortised cosi™ and had not been required to be classified ag held for
trading at initial recognition, then may be reclassified if the Group has the intention and ability to hold the investments for the
foresceable future or until maturity.

- If the investments would not have met the definition of held at amortised cost, and then it is reclassified out of the trading category
only in ‘rare circumstances’.

11
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NQOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

A security held as available for sale may be reclassified to “Other investments held at amortised cost™ if it otherwise would have met the
definition of “Other investments held at amortised cost” and if the Group has the intention and ability to hold that financial asset for the
foreseeable future or until maturity.

Subsequent measurement

The investments under each class are accounted for and presented using the basis set out in the following paragraphs.

§) Held as FVIS

Investments in this catcgory are classified es either investrnent held for trading or those designeted as FVIS on initial recognition,
Investments held for trading are acquired principally for the purpase of selling or repurchasing m the short term and are recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised in treding income/loss.

An investment can be designated as FVIS by Management if the assets or lisbilities are managed, evaluated and reported internally on a fair
value basis and the designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch which would otherwige arise; or
except for the equity instruments that do not have a quoted price in en active marke! and whose fair vaiues cannot be reliably measured,

investments at FVIS are recorded in the conselidated statement of financial position at fair value, Changes in the fair value are recognised in
the consolidated income statement for the year in which it arises. Special commission income and dividend income on financial assers held as
FVIS are reflected as either trading income or income from FVIS financial instruments in the consolidated income statement.

il} Available for sale

Available for sale investments are those equity and debt securities that are intended to be held for an ungpecified period of time, which may
be s0ld in respense to needs for liquidity or changes in special commission tates, exchange rates or equity prices.

Investments which are classifted ag “available for sale” are subsequently measured at fair value. Unrealised gain or loss arising from a change
in its fair value is recognised m other comprehensive income. On de-recognition, any cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is included in the consolidated income statement Special commission mcome is recognised in the consolidated
income statement on an effective yield basis. Dividend income is recognised in the consolidated income statement when the Group becomes
entitled to the dividend. Foreign exchange gains or loss on available for sale debt security investments arc recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

i) Held o maturity

[nvestments with fixed or determinable payments and maturity that the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold 10 maturity are
classified as held to maturity. Held to maturity investments are subsequently measured at amortised cost, less provision for impairment in
value, Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition using an effective yield basis. Any gein or
loss on such investments is recognised in the consolidated income statement when the investment is derecognised or impaired.

Investments classified as held 10 maturity cannot ordimarily be sold or reclassified without impacting the Group’s ability to use this
classification and cannot be designated ag a hedged item with respect 10 commission rate or prepayment risk, reflecting the longer-term nature
of these investments.

However, saies and reclagsifications in any of the following circumstances would not impact the Group's ability to use this classification;

+ Sales or reclassifications that are so close 1o maturity that the changes in market rate of interest would not have a significant effect
on the fair value;

+ Sales or reclassifications afler the Group has collected substantially all the assets’ original principal; end

= Sales or reclassifications attributable to non recurring isolated events beyond the Group's control that could not have been
reasonably anticipated.

i) Oiher investments held at amortised cost

Investmenl securities with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as “Other investments held at
amortised cost”. Such investments whose fair values have no! been hedged are stated at amortised cost using effective yield basis, less
provigion for impairment. Any gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement when the investment is derecognised or
impaired.

12
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

k) Lozns and advances

Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets originated or acquired by the Group with fixed or determinable payments. Loans and
advances are recognised when cash is advanced to borrowers. They are derecognised when cither the borrower repays the obligations, the
loans are written off or substentially all the risks and rewards of ownership are trensferred.

All loans and advances are initially measured at fair value, including acquisition charges associated with the loans and advances,

Loans and advances originated or acquired by the Group thal are not quoted in an active market and for which fair value has not been hedged,
are stated at amortised cost, For loans and advances which are hedged, the related portion of the hedged fair value is adjusted against the

CAITYIng amount.
[) Impairment of financlal assets

An assessmenl is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence that a financial esset or group of financial
assels may be impaired. 1f such evidence cxists, the net present value of future anticipated cash flows from that asset is determined end any
impairment loss, is recognised for changes in its carrying amounts.

When a financial asset is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowances for impairment either directly or by a charge to the
consolidated income statement. Financial assets are wrinien off only in circumstances where effectively all possible means of recovery have
been exhausted, and the amount of the loss has been determined.

Once a financial asset has been written down (o its estimated recoverable amount, special commission income is thereafter recognised based
on the rate of special commission that was used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the recoverable amount.

IE, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised (such es an improvement in the debtor's credit rating), the previously recognised impaitment loss is reversed
by edjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognized in the consolidated income statement in impafrment charge for
credit losses,

Loans whose terms have been renegolialed are no longer considered 10 be past due but are treated as new loans. Restructuring policies and
practices are based on indicaiors or criteria, which indicate that payment will most likely continue. The loans continue 1o be subject to an
individual or collective impairment assessment, calculated using the loan’s original effective yield.

(i) Impairment of financlal assets held at amortised cost

A financial asset or group of financial assets is classified as impaired when there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset or group of financial asscts and that a loss event(s) has an impact
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated,

A specific allowance for credit losses due to impairment of a loan or any other financial assct held at amortised cost is established if there is
objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due. The amount of the specific allowances is the difference between
the carrying emount and the estimated recoverable amount, The estimated recoverable amount is the present value of expecied future cash
flows, including amounts estimated 1o be recoverable from guarantees and collateral, discounted based on the original effective yield rate.

(1) Impairment of available-for-sele financial assets

In the case of debt instruments classified as available for sale, Management agsesses individually whether there is objeclive evidence of
impairment based on the same criteria as financiel asscts carried at amortised cost. However, the amount recorded for impairment is the
cumulative loss measured as the difference between the amortised cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment
previously recognised in the consolidated income statement.

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the increase can be objectively related to credit event occurting
after the impairment loss was recognised in the consolidated income statement, the impairment loss is reversed through the consolidated
income statement,

For equity investments held as available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in fair value below its cost represents objective evidence
of impairment. The impairment loss cannot be reversed through the consolidated income statement as long as the asset continves to be
recognised i.e. any increase in fair value after impairment has been recorded can only be recognised in shareholders’ equity. On
derecognition, any cumulative gein or loss previously recognised in the shareholders’ equity is included in the consolidated income statement
for the year.
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NOTES TC THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

m) Other real estate

The Group, in the ordinary course of business, acquires certain real estate against settiement of due loans and advances. Such real estate are
considered as assets held for sale and are initially stated at the lower of camrying amount and the current fair velue of the related properties,
less any costs to sell (if material). No depreciation is charged on such real estate. Rental income from other real estate is recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

Subsequent to initial recognition, any subsequent write down to fair value, less costs to sell, are charged to the consolidated income
statement. Any subsequent gain in the fair value less costs to sell of these asscts to the extent thiz does not exceed the cumulative write down
is recognised a8 income together with any gain/ loss on disposal.

n) Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost and presented net of accumulated depreciation and amortisation. Freehold land is not depreciated,
The cost of other property and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basts over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings 33 years

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of [ease period and 10 years
Fumiture and fixtures, computer hardware and software

and motor vehicles 410 10 years

The residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with cerrying amount. These are included in the consolidated income
staternent.

All assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. Any camying amount is written down immediately o ils recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its
estimaled recoverable amount.

0) Liabilities

All money market deposits, customer deposits and subordinated debts in issue are initially recognised ar fair value less transaction costs.
Subsequently all commission-bearing financial liabilities other than those held at FVIS or where fair values have been hedged are measured
8t amortised cost. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium. Premiums are amortised and discounts
acereled on an effective yield basis 1o maturity and taken to specigl commission expense.

Financial liabilities are designated as FVIS on initial recognition if doing so significantly reduces measurement inconsistencies which would
otherwise arise. After initial recognition thesc liabilities are measured a1 fair value and the resulting gain or loss is included in the
consolidaled income staternent.

Financial liebilities in an effective fair value hedge relationship are adjusted for fair value changes 1o the extent of the risk being hedged. The
resultant gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated income satement. For financial liabilities carried at amortised cost, any gain or loss is
recogmised in the consolidated income statement when derecognised.

p) Guarantees

in the ordinary course of business, the Group issues financial and performance guarantees, letters of credit and acceptances. Financial
guatantees are initially recognised in the consolidated financiel statements at fair value in other liabilities, being the value of the premium
received. Subsequent to the initial recognition, the Group’s liability under each guarantee is measured at the higher of the unamortised
premium and the best estimate of expenditure required o settle any financial obligations arising as a result of guarantees. Any increase in the
liability relating to the financiel guarantee is taken to the consolidated income statement in “impairment charge for credit losses™. The
premium received is recognised in the consolidated income statement "fees and commission income, net” on a straight line basis over the life

of the guarantee.
q) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when Management can reliably estimate a present legal or constructive obligation as a resull of past events and it is
more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation.

r) Accounting for leases

Leases entered into by the Group as a lessee are all operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the consolidated
income statement on a straighi-line basis over the period of the lease.
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For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

When an operaling lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any penalty required to be paid 1o the lessor is recognised as an
expense in the period in which termination takes place.

$) Cash and cash equlvalents

For the purpose of the consolidated siatement of cash flows, “Cash and cash equivalents” are defined as those amounts included in cash,
balances with SAMA excluding statutory deposits, and due from banks and other financial institutions maturing within three months from the
date of acquisition.

t} Derecognition of financlal instruments

A financial asset {or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is de-recognized when:

- The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired

- The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in Full
without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through' arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
ardd rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has trensferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into & pass-through arrangement, and has neither
transferred nor retained substantially 21l of the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the
extent of the Group’s cotitinuing involvement in the asset. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability, The transferred asset
and the aszociated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantes over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount
of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

A financial lighility (or a part of a financial ligbility) can only be derecognised when it is extinguished, that is when the obligation specified in
the contract is either discharged, cancelled or expires.

u) Share based payment transactions

The Group's share plan is classified as an equity setted plan. The fair value of shares which the Group expects will evenmally vest is
determined at the grant date and is expensed on a straight line basis over the vesting period wilth commesponding increase in s1aff share based
plan reserve, Details regarding the plan and determination of the fair value are set out in Note 38,

At each reporting date, Management revises its estimales of the number of equity instruments expecied to vest. The impact of the revision of
the original estimates, if any, is recognised in the consolidated income statement over the remaining vesting period, with a corresponding
adjustment to the staff share plan reserve,

v) End of service beneflts

The liability for employees™ end of service benefits is determined besed on an actuarial valuation conducted by an independent actuary. The
actuarial valuation process takes into account the provisions of the Saudi Arabian Labour and Workmen law.

w) Zekat and Income tax

Under Saudi Arabian Zakat and [ncome tax laws, Zakat and income taxes are the liabilides of Saudi and foreign shareholders, respectively.
Zakat is computed on the Saudi shareholders® share of equity or net income using the basis defined under the Zakat regulations. [ncome taxes
are computed on the foreign shareholders share of net income for the year.

Zakat and income 1axes are not charged 1o the Group's consolidated income stetement and are deducted from current and future dividends
payable to shareholders.

1} Investment management services

The Group offers investment services 1o its customers through is subsidiary SHC. The services include the management of certain investment
funds in consultation with professional investment advisors. The Croup’s share of these funds is included in FVIS or available-for-sale
investments and fees eamed are disclosed under related party transactions.

Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity are not treared as assets of the Group and accordingly are not included in the consolidated
financia! statements.
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¥) Non-interest based banking products

In addition to conventicnal banking, the Group also offers its customers certain non-inlerest based banking products, which are approved by
its independent Shariah Board, as follows:

Definitions of non-commission based products

(i) Mursbaha is an agreement whereby the Group sells 1o a customer 8 commodity or an asset, which the Group has purchased and acquired
based on a proinise received from the customer to buy. The selling price comprises the cost plus an agreed profit margin.

(ii) [jarak is an agreement whereby the Group, acting as a lessor, purchases or constructs an asset for lease according to the
customer request (lessee), based on his promise to lease the asset for an agreed rent and specific period that could end by
transferring the ownership of the leased asset to the lessee.

(i) Musheraka is an agreement between the Group and a customer to contribute to a certain investrment enterprise or the
ownership of a certain property ending up with the acquisition by the customer of the full ownership. The profit or loss is shared
a5 per the terms of the agreement.

(iv) Tawaraq is a form of Murabaha transactions wbere the Group purchases a commodity and sells it to the customer. The
custommer sells the underlying commodity at spot and uses the proceeds for his financing requirements.

All noncommission based banking products are accounted for as held at amortised cost under IFRS and are in conformity with
the accounting policies described in these consolidated financial staternents.
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Amounts in SAR*000

CASH AND BALANCES WITH SAMA
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201l 2049
Cash in hand 406,200 297,711
Statutory deposit 1,258,502 2,228,225
Current accounts 152,096 23,796
Reverse repo with SAMA 3,051,919 2,449,966
Total 5968,777 4,999,698

In accordanee with the requirements of Banking Control Law and Regulations issued by SAMA, the Group is required to maintsin a siatutory deposit with
SAMA at stipulated percentages of ite demand, savings, time and other deposits, caleulated at the end of cach month, Tho statutory deposit with SAMA is
not available to finance the Group's day-10-day operations add therefore is not a part of cash and cash equivalents,

DUE FROM BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTTTUTIONS

2041 20i¢
Current aocounts 590,183 106,403
Moncy marker placemeats 22,683 202,478
612,866 308,881
INVESTMENTS, NET
2) Tovestment securities are classifled as folows:
Demesily Inrerngtlencl Toial
i) Held at FVIS 2011 20/¢Q 201r 2010 el 2010
Fixed rate securitics - - 11,110 210 1,110 210
Floating rate securitics - 18,133 - 37,501 - 55,634
index linked securitics . - - 59,734 - 59,734
Total held as FVIS - 18,133 11,110 91,445 11,110 115,578

Investments in index linked sccurities were made to economically hedge the returns on related deposits whose returns were linked to the same index. Both
investment securities and relnted deposits were designated as FVIS as such designation significantly reduced measurement inconsistencies. The securitics and
underlying deposits manured during the year. Fixed and floating rate securities are held for trading purposes.

Domestic [afernationgl Tgre!

20148 2010 2011 2010 2041 20i0
1) Availadle- for- sale
Fixed rate securitics 89,618 129,800 . 89,618 129,800
Floaling rate sccurities 339,500 772,191 12,068 85,718 481,568 857,909
Mutual funds 18,184 26,863 - - 28,184 26,863
Equities 19,518 4,236 - - 39,518 4,236
Total availadle-for-sale 496,810 933,090 112,068 85,718 608,388 1,018,808

Equities reported under available for sale investments include unquoied shares of SAR 4 million {2010: SAR 4 million) that are carried at cost. In the opinion

of iManagemen! its fair value spproximales the carrying value.

) Other invesnments held at amortised cost
Fixed rate securitics
Floating rale sacurities

Total other investnents beld at amortised cost
Allowanees for impairment

Total other investments beld at amortised cost, net

Domesiic Internafional Teral
el 2010 2041 20{8 2044 2010
6,408,132 4337962 1,210,573 951,300 7,618,705 5,299,262
2,483,315 4,005,844 575,138 1,095,317 3,058,453 5,101,161
5,891,447 8,343,806 1,785,711 2,056,617 10,671,158 10,400,423
- - {20,000) (10,000) (20,000) (10,000)
8,891,447 8,343,806 1,765,711 2,046,617 10,687,158 10,390,423
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
Amounts in SAR'000

Domeste Interpational Total
iv} Held to maturity 2011 2010 200 2010 2081 2040
Fixed rato securities 1,860 73,378 - - 71,860 73375
Floating rate sscurities - 40,000 153,510 103,481 153,520 153,481
Total beld to maturity 71,860 123,375 153,520 103,481 225380 226,856
Total investments, net 9,460,127 9418404 2,041,469 21333,261 11,502,536 11,751,665

b) Investments reclnssification

Management identified cenain AFS, for which at July 1, 2008, it hed & clear intention o hold the instruments for the foreseeable fumire rather than 10 exit or
trade in the short term. As a result these instruments were reclassified from AFS to other investments held at amoriised cost at that date and the
reclassificalion was made at fair value. Had the reclass(fication not bean made, other reserves would have inciuded unrealised fair value losses smounting Lo
SAR 24 million (December 31, 2010: SAR 23 million) and sharcholders® equity would have been lower by the same amouat.

With effect from July 20, 20t ), the Group reclassified certain mading financia! assets to other investments held ar amortised cost, for which it no konger has
the intention 1o hoid these financial assets for the purpose of selling in the ghort term. For these reclassified financial assets, the Group has the inteation and
ability to hold them for the foreseeable future or until mamrity. Had the reclassification not been made, there would have been no impact on the consolidated
income statement as the fair value was same as of the carrying valuc at Decerber 31, 2011,

The following table shows carrying vafues and fair values of the reclassified investments:

204 el 2010 2010
Currvipz yplue  Eslryalwe  Comvinewslve  Eairvalue
Available for sale sccurities reclassified to other investments held at
amortised cost 452,109 426,389 594 515 553,544
Trading finsncial assets reclassified to other investments held at amontised cost 17,510 17,510 17,424 17,433
) The composition of investments s as follows:
204} 2010

Quored Unguored Total Quored Unguoted Toral
Fixed rate securities 1,392,586 6,398,707 7,791,293 984,510 4518137 5,502,647
Floating rate securitics 1,950,541 1,693,000 3,643,541 2,021,622 4,136,563 6,158,185
Mutual funds 28,184 - 28,184 26,863 - 26,863
Equitics 35,281 4136 39,518 - 4,236 4,236
[ndex lnked securities - - - - 59,734 59,734
Investments, net 3,406,593 8,095943 11,562,536 3,032,995 8,718,670 11,751,665

Unquoted securities included above principally comprise Treasury bills and Saudi Government Bonds. Such securities are traded in inter-bank market within
Saudi Arabia and valucs are determined according lo an appropriate pricing model.

d) The analysis of unrealised gnins and losses and fair values of other Investments held at amortised eost and held to maturity, are as follows:

201 00
Carrying Gross Gross Cartying Gross Gross

value, netof  unrealised unreallised Fair value, netaf  unrealised wrrealised Fair

ailowgnees galng losses yaiue .aliowances gams {psses valie
) Other Investments

held ar amartised cost

Fixed-rate securines 1,618,705 74,825 {5,784) 7,687,746 5,299,262 81,842 (1.075) 5,380,029
Floating rale sccurities 3,038,453 8,713 {46,411) 3,000,818 5,091,161 19,285 (44.343) 5,066,103
Total 10,657,158 81,598 (32,19%) 10,688,561 10,390,423 101,127 (45,418) 10,446,132
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asailgmil oesasgecanall «“E5g Bl

2041 2010
Gross Gross Carrying Gross Gross
Carrying unrealised  wnrealised Fair value, netof  umrealised wtreafived Fair
value fains losses zalue allowances gaimr losses valye
1) Held to mamirizy
Fined-rate seturilies 71,860 5971 - 7,832 73,375 6,906 - 80,181
Floating rate securities 153,520 177 (14,153) 139,544 153,481 - (13,106) 140,375
Total 225,380 6,149 (14,153) 117,376 226,856 6,906 (13,106) 220,656
¢) The analysis of investments by counter party is as follows:
2011 2010
Government and quasi-government 8,683,743 9,102,512
Corporates 1,495,471 1,463,469
Banks and other financial institutions 1,255,618 1,148,586
Others 67,702 31,098
Total 11,502,536 11,751 665

[nvestments include SAR 2,568 million (2010: SAR 535 million) which have been pledged under repurchase agreements with customers. The market value

of these investments is SAR 2,567 mitlion {2010: SAR 546 million).
) Credit risk exposures of Investments

Fi e 20i0
Fixed rate  Floating rate Fixed mte  Floating rate
AAA 137,193 - - 137,193 134,223 - - 134223
AA-To AAY 7,392,871 1,963,287 - 9,356,158 5,304,400 4,383,698 56,889 9,744 987
A- To A+ 200,419 966,788 - 1,167,204 40,814 599,585 - 640,399
BBB- To BBB+ 37,810 125,495 - 263,308 - 311,358 - 311,358
Lower than BBB - 15,805 - 35,805 - 88,643 - 88,643
Unraied 23,000 452,169 67,702 542,871 23,210 714,901 33,944 832,055
Total 7,791,293 3,643,541 67,702 11,502,536 5,502,647 6,158,185 90,833 11,751,665
g Allowances for Impairmeot on investments
Allowances for impairment on investments during the year was SAR 10 million (2010: SAR 9.2 million).
LOANS AND ADVANCES, NET
a) Loans and advances held at amortised cost
Credit Consumer  Commercial
201 Qverdraft Cards loaps loans Toual
Performing loans and advances-gross 3,370,107 235,742 3,910,246 30,553,442 38,079,537
Non performing loans and sdvances, net 365,576 9,233 30,646 329,955 735410
Total loans and advances 3,735,683 244,975 3,950,892 30,883,397 18,814,947
Allowances for impairment of credit losses (608,540) (11,324) (38,722) (411,060)  (1,069,648)
Loans and advances, nel 3,127,143 233,649 3,912,170 30,472,337 37,745,299
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200

Performing loans and advances-gross
Non pesforming loans and advances, net

Total loans and advances
Allowances for impairment of credit losses

Loans and advances, net

b} Movements In Allowances for impairment of credit losses

201

Balance at beginning of the ycar

Provided during the year

Bad debis written of T

Recoveries of amounts previously provided

Balance at the end of the year

2010

Balence at beginning of the ycar

Provided during the year

Bad debts written of T

Recoveries of amounts previously provided

Balance at the end of the year
¢) Credit quallty of loans and advances

I} Loans and advances neither past due nor Impaired

vsailigenlil vcagoanslil «Riglil

Credit Ce C cial
Overdraft Cards Loens loans Totwml
3,104,079 228,519 3,485,985 28,447,362 135265965
661,260 11,069 45,714 212,949 930,992
3,765,339 239,608 3,531,699 28,660,311 36,196,957
(742,645} (11,326) (38,722) (365,285)  (1,157,978)
3,022,694 228,282 3,492,977 28,295,026 35,038,979
Credit Consunter  Commerelal
Overdralt Cards, Loans loans Total
742,645 11,326 38,722 365,285 1,157,978
180,950 24,826 73,788 98,378 377,942
(189,653) (16,082) (43271) - (249,106)
(125,402) (8,744) (30,417) (52,603) {217,166)
608,540 11,326 33,722 411,060 1,069,648
Credit Consurmer Commereial
Qverdrafl Cardg Loans foans Total
2,026,059 5,542 48,070 166,271 2,245,942
152,000 21,563 49,314 202,789 425,656
(1,434,308} (8,140) (34,242) - (1,476,690}
(1,106} (7,639) (24,420) (3,775) (36,940}
742,645 11,326 38,722 365,285 1,157,978

The Group has categorised its portfolic of loans and advances thar ere neither past due nor impaired into threc sub categortes i.c. strong, salisfactory and

walch according to the Group's infernal rating system.

Loans end advances under the Strong category are performing, have sound fundamental characieristics and include those thal exhibit peither cument nor

potentinl weaknesses.

Loans and advance under the Satisfactory calegory arc of sufficient quality to meet its financial obligations in the medium term, but could be impacied by

adverse business or economic conditions.

The Watch category includes loans and advances that are performing, current and up to date in 1erms of principal and special commission paymenis.
However, they require close management attealion as they may havo potential weaknesses that could, at some future date, result in the deterioration of the
repayment prospects of cither the principal oc the special commission. The Watch category loans and advances would not expose the Group to sufficient risk

1o warran: a worse classification.

2011

Strong
Satisfactory
Whaich

Total

Credit Consumer  Commerclal
Overdrslt  Cards. Loany loass Total
1,265,386 111,604 3,873,962 15,617,952  10918,904
1,564,823 13,398 11,260 14,464,486 16,053,967
150,767 1,641 1,448 451,991 704,847
3,030,976 226,643 3,886,670 30,534,419 37,678,718
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2010

Strong
Satisfaciory
Warch

Total

il) Ageing of loans erd advances (Past due but not tmpaired)

2011

From | day to 30 days
From 31 days to 90 days
From 91 days to 180 days
More than 180 days

Total

2010
From | day tc 30 days
From 31 days to 90 deys

From 9] daysto 180 days
More than |80 days

Totsl

Ot of the past due loans for 2011 loans amounting to SAR 269 million are fully secured by collareral (2010: SAR 272 million)

vsailgamil s sge sl «—Hinlll

d) Economlc sector risk concentration for loans and advances and allowances for impairment are as follows:

el

Government and quasi-government
Banks and orher financial insinaions
Agriculture and fishing
Menufacturing

Mining and quarrying

Electricity, water, gas and health services
Building and construction
Commerce

Transporation and communication
Senvices

Consumer loans and credit cards
Others

Porifolio impainment allowances

Total

Credit Congumer  Commercial

Overdraft Cards Loans loans Tota]

1,125,524 207,643 3431,107 13,216,939 17,981,213

1,366,290 10,052 8,196 14,683,262 16,067,800

277,407 956 239 389,836 668,438

2,769,221 218,651 3,439,542 28,290,037 34,717,451
Credit Consumer  Commerclal

Overdraft Cards Loans lpang Total

24,644 3320 17,923 1,641 47,518

16,313 5779 15,653 30 38,045

17,847 - - 17,072 34,919

280,327 - - - 280,327

339,131 9,099 33,576 19,013 400,819
Credit Consumer Commercial

Overdeall Cards Loons loans Total

28,843 4,041 21,294 39,947 04,167

9,781 5,847 25,149 56,163 96,940

- - . 28,465 28,465

296,192 - - 32,7%0 328,942

334,858 9,888 46,443 157,325 548,514
Allownnces

Non for Loans and

Rerformlog  performing [moajrment advances. net

1,067,208 - - 1,067,209

1,593,928 - - 1,593,928

526,752 3,170 (23,310) 526,612

7,613,685 64,102 wIgn 7,559,970

197,076 - - 197,076

1,916,952 8,251 (8,367 1,916,836

5,123,535 37,987 (115214) 5,046,308

10,519,870 439,105 (414,39%5) 10,544,580

586,565 173 (178) 586,560

1,380,078 105,166 (28,396) 1,456,848

4,116,107 39,879 (28,335 4,127,651

3,437,780 17,577 (36,865) 3,418,492

38,079,537 135410 (113,87 38,042,070

. . 296,171) (296,771)

18,079,537 135410 (1,069,648) 37,745,299
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For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
Amounts in SAR'000

Non Allowances Loans end

200 Performing  performing  fof impaimoen! gdvances, agt
Government and quasi -government 2,369,483 - - 2,369,483
Banks and other financial institutions 1,197,190 - - 1,197,190
Agriculture and fishing 367,049 23,231 (23231} 367,049
Menufacturing 7.827,346 119,016 (111,241) 7,835,121
Minicg and quarrying 302,274 - - 302,274
Electricity, water, gas and health services 1,692,207 38,144 (14,867} 1,715,484
Building end construction 5228 508 54,070 (52,827 5,229,751
Commerce 7,529,166 512973 (507,306 7,534,833
Transportation and communication 420,754 28 (28) 420,794
Services 1,818,761 96,391 (96191} 1,818,761
Consumer loans and credit cards 3,714,525 56,783 - 3,771,308
Others 2,798,662 30,356 (l6644) 2812374

35,265,965 930,992 (822,535) 35374422
Portfolio impairment allowances - - (335,443) (335,443)
Total 35,265,965 930,992  (1,157978) 35,638,979

Loans and advances, inciude Islamic products of SAR 13.70 billion (2010: SAR 13.55 billion)

¢} Collaterat

The Group, in the ordinary course of its lending activities holds collateral to mitigate the associated credit rigk. This mostly consists of time, demand and
other cash deposits, finaocial guarantees, local and intermational equities, real csiate and other fixed assets. Collateral is mainly held against commercial and
consumet loans and is managed against relevant exposures at its ol realisable value. The fair value of collateral held by the Group against loans and advances
ol December 31, 2011 is SAR 7.07 billion (2010: SAR 7.75 billion}.

{) Loans and advances renegotinted

Restructuring activities inciude extended repayment arrangements, approved exlernal management plans and modification or deferral of payments. Following
resmucturing, previously overdue customer accounts are reset to a normal status and managed together with other similar accounts. Renegotiated loans that
would otherwise be past duc or impaired toialed SAR 344 million (2010: SAR 740 million).

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

2001 2010
Balance at beginning of the ycar 20,000 20,000
Share in undistributed loss (2,250) -
Balance ar end of the year 17,750 20,000

{nvestment in associale represents a 20 % sharcholding in Wataniya Insurance Company formed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, pursuant to Royal Decree
No. 26/30 dated 16 Rabi’ IT 1430H (correspondimg (o Aprit 12, 2009). The Group's share of associate's Rnancial statements is not marerial enough 10 disclose
at December 31, 2011.
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Amounts in SAR'000
FROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT,NET
9 (a) Property and equipment detafls are as follows:

Computer Capital Work

Lapd and Leasehold hardware and Furniture and Motor  In Progress

Bulldings Improvements software Eixtures Vehicles CWIE) Total
Cost:
Balance at beginning of the year 108,884 266,595 537,646 174,959 4,380 95,616 1,288,080
Additions during the year - - - - - 106,501 106,501
Disposals / write off during the year (34,268) (3,060) - - - - (37,268)
Transfers from CWIP during the year 12,961 1,518 118,257 5252 - (138,998) -
Balance st ead of the year 187,577 266,123 655,903 180,211 4,380 63,119 1,357,313
Accumuiated depreclation/ amortisation
Balance ar beginning of the year 54,995 209,184 408,930 116,707 3,048 - 792,864
Charge for the year 5,458 13,740 63,271 18,916 390 - 101,775
Disposals / wrile off during the year (23,825 (3,000) - - - - (26,828)
Balance at ead of the year 36,628 219924 472,201 135,623 3,438 - 867,814
Net book value:
As at 31 December 2011 150,949 46,199 183,702 44,588 942 63,119 489,459
Asat 31 December 2010 153,889 57411 128,716 58,252 1,332 95,616 405,116

9 (b) Guin on sale of property

During the year the Group disposed off property which it considered surplus to i1s requirements. At the time of disposal the book value of the property
amounted 10 SAR 10.44 million and sale proceeds were SAR 28 50 million. Necessary regulatory approvals were abteined for the sale.

OTHER ASSETS
Actroed special commisslon recelvable: o 2010
Banks and ofher financial institutions 57 1,358
Tnvestments 39999 40,441
Loans and advances 152,314 209,431
Others 63,074 84,638
Total acerued speclal commission receivable 255,444 335,868
Accounts receivable 584,279 631,098
Pogitive fair valee of derivatives (oote | 1} 396,724 297.821
Others 5578 3,187
Total 1,212,025 1,267,974

DERIVATIVES
In the ordinary course of business, the Group utilises the following denvative financial instruments for both mading and hedging purposes:
a) Swaps

Swaps are commitments 10 exchange one set of cash flows for ancther. For commission rate swaps, counterparties generally exchange fixed and floating rate
commission payments in & single currency without exchaoging principal For cross-currency commission rate sweps. principel and fixed and floating
commission payments are exchanged in different currencies.

b} Forwards aad futures

Forwards and futurcs arc contractual agreements to either buy or setl a speeified currency, cormodity or financial instrument at a specified price and date in
the future. Forwards arc customised contracts transacted in the over-the-counter market Forcign currency and commission rate futures arc transacted in
stardardised amounts on regulated exchenges and changes in futures contract values are settted daily.

23



Ssaudi Hollandi BEanik @ s ailgmll esscagcsasll «—Rigll

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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¢) Forward-raie agreements

Forward-rstc agrecments are mdividually negonlated comynission rate contracts that call for a cash setilement of the difference between a contracied
commission rate and the market rate on & specified future date and are based on a notional printipal and an agreed period of time.

d) Options

Oplions are contractual agreements under which the seller (writer) grants the purchaser (holder) the right, but not the obligation, to cither buy or sell at a
fixed future date or at any time during a specified period, e specified amount of a currency, commedity or financial instrument at a pre-determined price,

Derivatives held for trading purposes

Most of the Group's detivative trading activities relate to sales, positioning and arbitrage. Sales activitics involve offering products fo customers and banks in
order, intér alia, to cnable them to transfer, modify or reduce current and fuwre risks. Positioning involves managing market risk positions with the
expectation of profiting from favourmble movements in prices, rates or indices. Arbitrage involves identifying pricc differentinls betwecn markets or products,
with the expectation of profiting.

Derivatives beld for hedging purposes

The Group bas adopted a comprehensive process for the measurement and management of risk. Part of the risk management process involves managing the
Group's exposure to fluctuations in forcign exchange and commission rates 10 acceptuble Ievels as determined by the Board of Directors and within
guideiines issued by SAMA.

The Board of Directors has established levels of currency risk by setting limits on counterparty and currency positions. Positions are monitored oo a daily
basis and hedging strategies are used lo ensure that positions are maintalned within the established limits, The Board of Direciors has elso cstablished the
levels of commission rate risk by setting limits on special commission rate gaps for stipulated periods. Asset and liability commission rato gaps are reviewed
on & periodic basis and bedging strategies are used (0 reduce commission rate gaps within the ¢stablished limits.

As part of its assct and lisbility management process, the Group uses derivatives for hedging purposes in onder to adjust is own exposure to currency and
commission rate risks. This is generally achieved by hedging specific 1ransactions-

The Group uses commission rate swaps 10 hedge against the commission rate risk anising from specifieally identified fixed commizsion rate expesures. The
Group also uses commission raic swaps to hedge agringt the cash flow risk arising on certain floaung-rate exposures. In all such cases, the hedging
relationship and objective, including details of the hedged items and hedging instrument, are formeally documented and the transactions are accouried for as
fair value or cash flow hedges.

Cash flow hedges

The Group is exposed to variability in future special commission cash flows on non-trading assets and liabilitics which bear commission &t & variable rate.
The Group uses commission rate swaps as cash flow hedges of these commission rate rigks, The weble below indicates as at December 31, 2011, the periods
when the hedged cash flows are expected to occur and when they are expected Lo affect profit or Joss:

2011 208
Cash inflows (assets) 3,569 4,502 3,297 15,944
Cash outflows (liabilitics) (10,095) {10,200) (10,068) (20,163)
Net cash outflows (6,526) (5,668) 6,771) (4.219)

The tables below show the pesitive and negative fair values of derivative finencial instruments held, together with the notional amounts, analysed by the term
10 maturity and monthly average. Tho notioeal amounis, which provide an indicatton of the volumes of transactions cutstanding &t year-end, do not
necessarily reflect the amounts of funure cash flows involved. These nolional smounts are, thercfore, neither indicative of the Group®s exposure to credit risk,
which ig gencrally limited to the pasitive fair vatue of the derivatives nor market nsk.
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offonal unts bp mati

Notional Within
Dertvarfve financlal Positive Negative amount three 3-12 LS Over s
instruments 2011 fairvaine  foirvaine tofq] moni Monihs Yeary Yeans
Held for trading:
Commission rate swaps 137,526 117,685 14,448,E35 B18.T79 1,701,446 11,455,294 461,616
Forward foreign exchange
contracts 242,776 219398 33,019,836 19,634,079 13,377,158 18,599 -
Currency options 16,240 16,235 28,289,091 5,324,446 14,436,692 BA97,953 -
Forward rate agreements 115 - 150,000 - 150,000 - -
Commission rale options 67 67 219,279 - - 219,179 -
Held as falr value hedges:
Commission rate swaps - 10,484 1,0585624 10,000 244,748 S63,382 137,508
Held as cash flow hedges:
Cormmission rato swaps - 11,874 350,000 - . 350,000 .
Total 396,724 395,763 T7,511,965 15,797,304 29,911,036 11,104,507 699,118
Nottonal amounts by maiurify
Natianal Within
Derivative financial Positive Negative amount three 3-12 1.5 Over §
ipsiruntenis 2010 Aair value fair value tofal menths Manths Fegrs Years
Held for tradlng:
Commission rate swaps 149,378 148,071 19,556,467 2,228,503 3912,721 11,946,785 1,468,458
Forward foreign exchange
contracts 116,952 101,851 37,258,805 18,721,776 17,948 645 £88,384 -
Currency options 2214 21,375 6,036,749 2,047,397 1,829,295 2,160,057 -
Forward rawe agreements 105 13 600,000 - 600,000 - -
Held a5 fair value hedges:
Commission rale swaps 9272 13,002 2,092,356 5,000 424,470 1,425,385 237,501
Held as cash flow hedges:
Comirission rale swaps - 10,820 350,000 - - 350,000 -
Total 297,821 295,132 65,894,377 23,002,676 24,715,131 16,470,611 1,705,959

The 1ables below shows & summary of hedged items, the narure of the risk being hedged, the hedging instrument and it’s fair value:

Hedge
Fair inception Hedging Positive
Descrigtion of hedged ) yalue vaipe  Risk  Imszememt  fairvelue
2017
Commission
Floating commission rate investments 195,654 206,250 Falr value rate swaps B
Commissfon
Fixed commission rate invesiments 374,717 348,750 Fair value rale swaps -
Commission
Subordinated debts 254,830 350,000 Cash Dow rabe swaps -
Commission
Loans and advances 480,729 475,356 Falr value  rale swaps -

25

Monthly
Average

16,084,925

35,861,533
0550611
166,667
73,093

1,253,583

350,000

Monthly
dverage
20,556,443

40,275,625
3,062,974

900,000

1.770,622

650,000

Negative
fair yalue

3,069
5,957
11,87
11,458
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Hedge
Fair inception Hedging Pasitive
Descripion of hedged irems valug velye Risk Instrument fair vafue
2010
Commission
Floating commission rale investments 185,006 206,250  Fair vahue rale swaps -
Commission
Fixed commission rate investments 594,660 558,150 Fair valuc rate SWaps 5833
Commission
Subordinated debts 350,027 350,60¢ Cash flow rale swaps -
Cornmission
Deposits taken 122,980 120,000  Fair valuc IBIC SWAPS 3,439
Commission
Loans and advances 918,215 893,797 Fair valuc rate swaps .

The it fiir value of fair valuz hedges is negative SAR 20.482 million (2010: SAR 3.730 million).

Negative
Jfalr value

127

10,820

12,875

Approximatefy 69% (2010: 61%) of the positive fair value of the Group’s derivalives are entered into with financial institutions and less than 7% (2010: 9%)
of the positive fair value contracts arc with any single counterparty at Lhe reporting date. Derivative activities are carmied owt by the Group’s tressury

segment.

DUE TO BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

2011 2010
Current accounis 704,347 510,549
Call Overnight 16 358
Money market deposits 906,718 2,346,005
Total 1,611,091 2,857,012
CUSTOMERS' DEPOSITS 2011 2010
Timo 24,156,021 23,764,571
Demand 19,848,307 16,894,955
Saving 350,244 350,059
Others 629,865 594,033
Total 45,014,437 41.603,6!9
Time deposits include:
I) Deposits designated as FVIS - 59,734
ii} Deposits under repurchase agreements with customers 1,063,000 534,800
iii) lstamic deposits 9,417,472 10,339,000

Customers’ deposits include SAR 498 million (2010; SAR 554 million) of margins held for imevocable commitments, non commission based depesis

amounting to SAR 19.40 billion (2010: SAR 16.86 billion) and foreign currency deposits as follows:

2011 2010

Tirne 4,219,645 6,957,924
Demand 1,824,780 1,723,808
Saving 26,137 34,368
Orhers 65,983 21,630
Total 6,136,545 8,737,730
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 201 | and 2010
Amounts in SAR'000

SUBORDINATED DEBT

Subordinated debt inciudes the folipwing debt securities:
Issued on December 30, 2609:

The Group issued SAR 725 million unsecured subordinated Mudaraba Cestificates which is duc in 2015, threugh public offer. The Group may at its option,
but subject (o the prior written approval of SAMA redeem these certificates at their redemption amount at the end of 2014 or at the end of each calendar year
thereafier until 2018, or in the cvent of certsin changes affecting taxation and the regulatory capital treatment of these Mudaraba Certificates.

Tssued on December 29, 2008:

The Group issued SAR 775 million unsecured subordinated Mudaraba Certificates which is due in 2018, The Group may at its option, bul subject to the prior
written approval of SAMA redoem these cettificates at their redemption amount at the end of 2013 or at the end of each calendar year thereafter until 2017,
or in the event of centain changes affecting the Laxalion and regulatory capital treatment of these Mudaraba Certificates.

The Group has not defaulted any principal or commission repayments and there has been no other breaches with regard 1o any of these liabilities during 2011
or 2010.

OTHER LIABILITIES

Acerued speciol commission payable: 2011 201
Barks and other finenciel institutions 130 828
Customer deposits 76,519 65,408
Subordinated debt 11 234
Others 83,861 119,255

Tetol accrued special commission pavable 160,728 185,725
Accrued ¢xpenses and accounts payable 1,064,521 673,928
Negative fair value of derivatives (note 11) 395,763 295,132
Others 383,890 180,041

Total 2,004,902 1,534,826

SHARE CAFITAL

The authorisad, issued and fully paid share capital consisis of 330.75 million (2010: 330,75 million) shares of SAR 10 (2010: SAR 10) cach.

The ownership of the Bauk's share capilal is as follows:

Percentarc 2001 2010
Saudi shareholders 0% 1,984,500 1,984,500
ABN AMRG Bank N.V. (The Nethedands) “% 1,323,000 t,323,000
Total 100% 3,307,500 3,307,500

On November 15, 2011, the Board of Directors has approved the transfer of SAR 661 5 million (2010: Nil) to reserve with an intention lo increase the
Bank’s share capital through a one-for-five bonus share dividend subject to final approval at an Extraordinary General Assembly meeting.

STATUTORY RESERYE
In accordapce with Seudi Arabian Banking Control Law and the Articles of Association of the Bank, a minimum of 25% of the anmual net income is required

1o be ansferred 10 & statutory reserve until this reserve cquals the paid up capital of the Bank. Accordingly, SAR 258 million (2010: SAR 198 millicn) has
been transferred from net income. The statutory reserve is not available for distribution,
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Amounts in SAR'000
OTHER RESERYES
Avallable for
sale Cash flow
{nvesimenis hedees Total
2011
Balance at beginning of the year (19,096) (10,820} {29,916)
Net change in fair value 3,398 (1,054} 2,341
Transfer to consolidated income statement 733% - 7,338
Balance at cad of the year (8,366) (11,874) (20,240)
Avaiiable far
sale Cash flaw
invesiments fedges Toiaf
2010
Balance at beginning of the year (7,185) 16,180 8,995
Net change in fair value (14,305) (29,391 (43,696)
Transfer 1o consolidated income staterncat 2,394 2,391 4,785
Balance at end of the year (19,096) {10,820) (29,916)

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
a) Legal proceedings

As at December 31, 2011 and 2019, there were certain legal proceedings outstanding against tho Group that arose in the normal course of business. Provision
amounting to SAR 16.3 million (2010: Nil) has been made during the year as professional legal edvice indicates that it is probable that losses will arise with
respect to these proceedings.

b) Capltal commitments

As al December 31, 2011, the Group hed capital commitrments of SAR 208 million (2010: SAR 9.32 million) in respect of leasehold improvements end
cquipmnent purchases.

¢) Credit related commitments and contingencles
The primary purpose of these instmuments is to ensure that funds arc available 10 customers as requined.

Guarantees and stand-by letters of ereddit, which represent irrevocable assurances that the Group will make payments in the event that a cuslomer cannol meet
its obligations 10 thind parties, carry the same credit risk as loans and edvances. Cash requirements under guamaniees and standby letters of eredit are
considerably less than the amount of the commitment because the Group does not generally expect the third party to draw the full funds under the agreement.

Documentary letiers of credit are written undertakings by the Group on behalf of a customer authorising a thind party to draw drafts on the Group up to a
stipulated amoum under specific terms and conditions and are generally collaweralised by the underlying shipments of goods to which they relate end
therefore, have significantfy less risk.

Acceptances comprise undertakings by the Group to pay bills of exchange drawn on customers. The Group cxpecis most acceptances to he presented be fore
being reimbursed by the customers.

Commitments to extend credit represent the unused portion of authorisations to extend credit, principally in the form of loans and advances, gusrantees and
letiers of credit. With respect to credit risk oh commitments (o extend credit, the Group is potentially expoesed to a {oss in #n amount cqual to the totsl unused
commitmeats. However, the likely amount of loss, which cannot readily be quantified, is expected 10 be considerably less than the total unused commimment
85 most commitments 10 extend credit are contingent upon customers maimaining specific credit standards. The total outstanding commitments to extend
credit do not necassarily represent future cash requirements as many of the commitments could expire or terminaie without being funded.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
Amounts in SAR'000

D) The contractual maturitles of the Grorp’s commiipents and contingencies ave as follows:

Wikin 3 31912 fws Over I
2011 months menths Fears Years Total
Letters of credit 1,999,727 2,275,118 225,653 - 4,500,498
Letters of guaraniec 1,231,289 5,906,102 5,743,018 40,721 12,921,150
Accepiances 1,916,926 44,179 17,023 1,509 1,279,637
Irrevocable commitments to extend ¢redit 1172 27,108 109,292 161,132 305,304
Total 5,155,114 8,553,107 6,095,006 203,362 10,006,589

Within 3 3012 TS Cher 3
2010 months months Years Years Tt
Letters of credit 592,385 2,138,415 694,545 58,281 3,483,626
Letters of guarantee 1,138,014 886,519 7,697,983 1,988,188 11,711,004
Accepances 998,082 1,037,340 52,349 245 2,088,016
Irrevocable commitments to extend credit 6,500 81,902 38,621 55,406 182,429
Total 2,734,981 4,144,476 8,483,498 2,102,120 17,465,075

The outstanding unused portion of commitments a3 at Decernber 31, 2011, which can be revoked unilaterally at any time by the Bank, amounts to SAR 305.3

million (2010: SAR. 182.4 million).

H) Commitments and conilngencies by connserpany are os follows: 2011 2018
Government end quasi-government 34,266 73,535
Corporate 17,173,196 14,491,471
Banks end other financial institutions 2517146 2,730,892
Other 281,981 169,177
Total 20,006,589 17,465,075
d) QOperating lease commitments
The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases where the Group is a lessee, are as follows:
Less than | year 46,522 44,338
1 to 5 years 104,251 116,470
Orver 5 years 55,725 63,805
Tota} 206,498 224,613
SPECIAL COMMISSION INCOME AND EXPENSE
Special commbssion iocome
Investments: 2011 2010
Available for sale 15,364 24,772
Held 10 maturity 5,200 6,529
Other investments held at amortised coxt 155,708 163,751
176272 195,062
[rue from banks and other financinl institudons 19,227 38,756
Loang end advances 1,371,006 1,391,179
Total 1,566,505 1,624,997
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Speclal commission expense

Due 10 banks and other financial institutions
Subordinated debt
Customers” deposits

Total

FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME, NET
Fee and commisslon Income:

Share brokerage and fund management, net
Trade finance

Comorate finance and advisory

Credit cards

Gther banking services

Tota] fee and commission iscome
Fee expenses;

Credit cards

Other banking services
Total fee expenses

Fee and commission income, net

INCOME FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS DESIGNATEDR AS FVIS, NET
Fair value chenge on investments designated as FVIS
Special commission income on investments designated as FVIS, net

Total

TRADING INCOME, NET

Forsign exchange, net
investments held for trading
Derivatives

Total

GAINS ON NON-TRADING INVESTMENTS, NET

Available for sale
Held to maturity
Other investments held at amvortised costs

Totml

SALARIES AND EMPLOYEE RELATED EXPENSES

2011 2010
6,439 24,634
41,938 46,667
128,533 266,365
276910 337,666
2014 2010
51,846 48,666
181,075 168,272
179,889 126,838
74,136 62,341
B9,827 88,336
576,713 500,453
48,024 39,891
9,546 5,738
57,570 45,626
519,203 454,827
Fii 7 2010

- 1,250
5,040 4,139
5,140 5,389
2011 2010
52,162 50,064
2219 14315
11,649 21,318
16,030 86,197
2011 2010

- 32,667

- (1,673)
5852 .
5,852 30,994

The following table summarizes Lhe Group's employee catcgories defined in accordance with SAMA’s rules on compensation practices snd inctudes the total
amounts of fixed and varieble compensation paid to employees during the year ended December 31, 2011, and the forms of such payments,
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Amoums in SAR’000

Number of Flxed Yariable Compepsation in 2011
Categories of emplovess tmolpvees compensation Cashpald Sharesvesied  Tofal
Senior excrutives who require SAMA's no objection 14 18,342 4,643 2421 15,406
Bmployees engaged in control and risk management functions 68 17,485 1,953 913 20,351
Employees engaged im risk wking aclivitics 401 87,193 9,17 4,435 100,799
Other employess 1,112 180,185 15,138 8,555 203,578
Tota! 1,605 303208 30,905 16,324 350,434
Varlable Campensation aecrued during the year 31,000
Other employee related expenses paid during the year 88,008
Other employee related expenses accrued during the year 16,219
Total Salarles and employee related expenses 440,432

e

Senlor executives requiring SAMA's no objection:

Thig comprises senior management having responsibility and authority for formulating strategics and directing and controlling the activities of the Group,
This covers the Managing Director (MD) and certain direct reports to the MD.

Bwiployees engaged In control and risk managemens functions:

This refers to employees working in divisions that are not mvolved in risk taking activities but are engaged in reviow and control functions, for examplo Risk
Management, Complianee, Intermnal Audit, Operations and Finance. These functions are fully independent from the risk teking units.

Employees engaged I risk taking activities:

This comprises staff within business lines (Corporate Banking, Personal Banking, Treasury and SHC), who are responsible for executing snd itnplementing
the business strategy on behelf of the Group, for example staff involved in recommending credit limits, pricing of loany, undertaking and executing business
proposals, treasury dealing activitics, investment manegement and brokerage services.

Other employees:

This includes all other employecs of the Oroup, excluding those already mendoned above,

Group Compensation policy:

The purpose of the policy is to establish and apply compensation policies and processes which support dolivery of business straregy, reinforce the desired
organisational culture, reflect prudent risk management and comply with SAMA Regulations.

The Group's compensation policy is aimed at rewarding both risk-adjusicd performance and appropriate behaviour in line with the Group’s core values. To
this end, performance measurements are risk adjusted and reviewed by the independent Risk Management function. In addition, the Compensation Policy is
veviewed by Risk Management to ensure mowards are adjusted for the level of risk incurred.

The Board of Directors are responsible for ensuring the effective implementation of the compensation policy. The Board is advised by the Nomipations and
Remuncration Committee ("The Committee”), which comprises three independent Non Executive Directors. The Commitiee receives reports and
recommendations from Executive Management supported by Human Resources, The Commitiee reviews and approves all compensation decisions relating o
all employecs.

Heads of business units and control functions being monitored andfor controlled by [niernal Audit, Compliance, Risk Management and Credit Risk witl not
have sny input to compensation decisions of employees in the control Functions. Compeusation recommendations are determined based on a clear
understanding of tbe intended total reward package and decisions are taken considering the balance between external competitivencss and affordability
together with focusing attention on building motivational and performance refated compensation arrangements.

Comparative informatiom has nol been provided as SAMA requires diselosure of the above information for the curent and prospective financial years.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic Earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 are caleulated by dividing the net income for the year artributable to the cquity
holders by 330.750 million shares.
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DIVIDENDS, ZAKAT AND INCOME TAX

The Board of Directors hes proposed a gross final dividend of SAR 377.1 million for the year 2011 {2¢10: SAR Nil). The dividends arc paid to the Saudi and
non-Saudi sharcholders after deduction of Zakat and inceme Lax respectively as follows:

a) Saudi shareholders:

Zakat aurributable to Saudi Shareholders for the year is an estimated SAR 94 million (2010: SAR 15 million), which will be deducted from their ghare of
future dividends. Zakat of SAR 27 million paid in prior years will be deducted from the current year's proposed dividend resulting in a net dividend of SAR |
per share.

b) Non-Saudi shareholders:

Income tax payable on the current year's share of income of forcign shareholders is an estimated SAR 75 million (2010: SAR 62 million). Tax paid in peior
years amounting to SAR 66.2 million and advance tax paid during the year amounting to SAR 50 million, included in the current year's mx liability, will be
deducted from current yeer's propased dividend resubting in a net dividend of SAR (.26 per share.

The Benk has filed its Zokat and retums for the years up to and including the financial year 2010 with the Depariment of Zakmt and income Tax (the
“DZIT"). During 201 |, the Bank has received Zakat and tax assessments from the DZIT in respect of the years from 2004 to 2006 and a partial assessment
for year 2010 raising additional Zakat and tax liabiliies.

The Bank has formaly coniested these assessments and is awaiting & response from DZIT. Management belicves that the ultimate cutcome of the actions
token by the Bank alone and in conjunction with other Banks in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia having similar addirional assessments from DZIT, cannot be
determined reliably at this stage and sccordingly the Bank has not made any provision for the additional assessed Zakat and Lax liabilities.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated statement of cash flows comprise the following:

201 2040
Cash and balances with SAMA excluding statulory deposits (note 4) 3,710,278 2,771,473
Due from banks and other financial institutions maturing within 3 months
or less from the date of acquisition 612,866 308,131
Total 4,323,141 3,079,604
OPERATING SEGMENTS

All of the Group's business is conducied within the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal reports abowt
components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the chief decision maker in order w allocate resources and to assess performance. Transactions
between reportable segments are on nomal commercial tenms and conditions. Funds are ordinarily reallocated between repormble segments, resulting in
funding cost transfers. Cornmission is charged to reportable segments based on a pool rate, which approximates the marginal cost of fimds. Following are the
reportable business segments of the Group:

Corporate banking

The corporate banking group offers a range of products and services to corporate and institutional customers. It accepls customer deposits and provides
financing, including term loans, overdrafts, syndicated loans, trade finance services, treasury and derivative products and foreign exchange. Services
provided to customers inchide internet banking, global iransaction services and a centralised service that manages all customer transfers, elecironic or
otherwise.

Personal banking

The personal banking group operates through a national network of branches and ATMs supporied by & 24-hour phone banking center. The Group accepts
custormers’ deposils in various savings and deposit accounts and provides retail banking products and services, including consumer loans, overdrafts and
credit cards 10 individuals and small-1o-medium-sized enterprises.

Tressury

‘Treasury transacts mainly money market, foreign exchange, interest raic trading and derivatives for corporate and institutional customers as well ag for the
Group’s own account It is also responsible for funding the Group’s operations, maintaining bank-wide liquidity and managing the Group™s investmeant
portfolio and consolidated statement of financial position.
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Investment banking and investment services

The invesiment banking and services group offers dealing, managing, arrenging, advising and mainteining custody setvices in relstion to securities.

Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below. Performance is measured based on segment profit as included in the internal
management reports that are reviewed by Management. Segment profit is used to measure performance as Management belicves that such information is the
most relevant in evaluating the results of certain ssgments relative to other eotities that operate within these industries.

a) The following Is an analysis of the Bank's assets, revenues and results by operating segments for the years ended December 31, 2011 and
2010,

Frrvestment

banking and

Corparate Personal Investment
2041 Banking Banking Trepsury Eervices Lol
Total assels 33,515,018 £300,741 18,2548 478,122 57,548,752
Total liabilities 20,868,824 17,127,477 12,119,798 24331 0,140,430
Net special commission income 724,471 384,171 179,144 1,809 1,289,595
Fee and commisgion income, net 161,458 81,464 16,777 59,504 519,203
Trading income, net REL) 3,392 712,185 - 76,030
Total operating income 1,194,876 539,442 209,615 61,13 2,005,246
Impairment charge for credit losses, net 112,021 48,758 - - 160,776
[mpairment charge for investments - - 10,000 - 10,000
Depreciation / amortisation 25329 69,818 6,631 - 101,775
Total operating expenscs 373,953 436,613 128,303 50,233 989,132
WNot operating income for the year 820,923 102,829 81,182 11,080 1,014,114

Imvestment

banking and

Corporale Personal Irrvestment
2010 Banking Banking Treasury services Toial
Total agsets 30,817,161 4,886,038 17,697,085 482,128 53,882,413
Toul lisbilities 21,132,976 14,713,523 11,429,147 19,411 47,495457
Net special commission income 711,453 366,212 207,388 2278 1,287331
Fec and commission income, net 324,143 57,290 13,908 59,436 454 827
Treding incomne, net 3,064 12,461 70,672 - 86,157
Toml operating income 1,125,257 461,769 305,293 61,764 1,954,083
Impairment charge for credit losses, net 337,068 51,658 - - 388,726
Impairment charge for invesmments - - 9.200 - 9.200
Depreciation / amortisation 24,585 67,346 292 . 92,223
Total operating expenses 580264 383,885 149,561 56,422 1,170,132
Net operating income for the year 544,993 77,884 135,732 5342 783,951

b) The Group's credit exposure by business segment Is as follovs:
Corporate Consumer
2011 Banklng  Bankine  Ireasury Total
Balance shect assets 33,393,194 4,964,957 11,520,300 49,878,451
Commitrments and conlingencies 10,748,738 - - 10,748,738
Derivatives - - 1,938,701 1,938,701
Corporale Consumner

2040 Banking Banking Ireasury Total
Balance sheet assets 30,685,145 4,524 406 11,909,974 47,119,525
Commi 15 and contingenei 5,412,941 - . 6,412,941
Derivatives - - 1,092,802 1,092,802
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Credit exposure comprises the carrying value of balance sheet assets, excluding cash and balances with SAMA, property and equiprnent and other assets. The
credit equivalent value of commikments, conlingencies and derivatives are included in credit expesure,

CREDIT RISK

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss. Credit
exposures arise principally in lending activities that lcad 1o loans and advances, and investment activities. There is also credit risk in off staternent of financial
pesition financial instruments, such as toan commitments. The Group controls credit risk by monitoring credit exposures, limiting transactions with specific
counterparties, and continually assessing the creditworthiness of counterpartieg.

In additlon to monitoring cvedit limits, the Group manages the credit exposure relating 1o its trading activities by entering into master netting agreemets and
collaters| amangemonts with counterparties in appropriate circumstences, and by limiting the duration of exposure. In certin cases Management may also
close out transactions or assign them o other counterparties to mitigate credit risk. The Group's credit risk on derivatives represents the poteatial cost 1o
replace the derivative contracts if counterparties fail 1o fulfill their obligation. To control the level of credit risk taken, Management assesses counter parties
using the same techniques as for its lending activities.

Concentrations of credil risk arise when a number of counterpartics are engaged in similar business activities or activities in the same geogrephic region, or
have similar economic features that would cause their ability t0 meet contractual cbligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or
other conditions.

Comcentrations of credit risk indicate the relative sensitivity of the Group's performance to developments sffecting 8 particular indusiry or géographical
location,

Management seeks to manage concentration of credit risk throngh the diversification of lending activitics to ensure that there is no undue concentration of
risks with individuals or groups of customers in speeific locations or husincsses. It algo takes sceurity when appropriate or seeks additional collateral from the
COUNTATPATtY A5 500N as impaimman indicators are noticed.

Management monitors on a regular basis the market value of collateral and requests additional collateral in accordance with the underlying agreement, if
required. In sddition it also specifically monitors the market value of collateral during its review of the adequacy of the allowances for impairment losses.
Management regularly reviews it risk management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets products and emerging best practice.

The debt securities included in the investmen portfolio are mainly sovereign risk. Analysis of investments by class of counter party is provided in nowc 6.
For details of the composition of loans and advances refer to note 7. Information on credit risk relating 1o derivative instruments snd commitments aod
contingencies are provided jn note 11 and |9 respectivety . Information on the Group's maximum credit exposure by operating segment is provided in note
29,

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk al December 31, 2011 aed 201Q, without mking into account of any collateral held or credit enbancements
attached is reflecied below:

Duc from banks and other financial institutions 612,866 308,881
Investments, net 11,520,286 11,771,665
Loane and advanoes, net 37,745,199 35038979
Derivatives 1,938,701 1,092,802
Credit related commitments and contingencies 10,748,738 9,412,941
Total 62,565,890 57,625,268

The Group uses a credit clessification sysiem as a tool o assist in menaging the quality of credit risk within the lending portfolio. In addition to the three
categories mentioned in note 7 management maintains further classification grades that differcntiates berween performing and impaired portfolios end
allocates portfolio and specific allowsnces respectively, Management determines each individual borrower’s grade based on specific objectives and criteria
such as activity, cash lows, capital structure, security, quality of management and borrower's character. A Further quality classification is performed over
existing borrowers and the resules of this exercisc are validated by the independent risk management unit.
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GEOGRAPHICAL CONCENTRATION

The Group's credit exposure by geographical region is as follows:

281

Asssts

Cash and balances with SAMA

Duc from banks and other financial institutions
Investments, net

Loans and advances, net

Total

Credit-related commitments and Contingencies

Maximum eredit exposure (stated at credit equivalent

Amounts)
Commitments and contingencics

Derivatives

201¢
Assels

Cash and belances with SAMA

Due from banks and other financial instirutions
Investments, net

Loans and advances, net

Toual

Credit-related commitments and Contingencics
Maximum credit exposure (stated at credit equivalent
amounts)

Commitments and contingencies

Derivatives

wesailagorll s saepgcaanll =HLisll

Other

Saudi GCC und Orther
drabls  Middle Eamt Enrope dmerigq couniries Towl
5,968,777 “ - - - 5,968,777
1,165 31,842 96,622 477,621 5,616 612,866
9,460,128 1,459,833 123,178 E 459397 11,502,536
37,297,073 448,226 o B - 37,745,299
52,727,143 1,939,901 219,800 477,621 465,013 55,829,478
17,865,743 337,748 468,036 74,329 1,260,733 20,006,589
9,108,276 245424 169,984 35,938 1,989,119 10,748,738
894,507 90,357 128,745 17,216 807,676 1,938,701

Other

Saued! GCC and Other
drabla  Middle Eaxt Europe Americg countrigs Total
4,599,698 - - - - 4,999,698
153,178 25,158 78,992 4,564 45,590 308,881
5,794,242 1,330,981 170,662 - 455,780 1,751,665
35,038,590 - 389 - - 35,038,979
49,985,705 1,356,139 250,043 4,966 502,370 52,099,123
15,267,818 270,262 1,015,095 74,982 836,908 17,465,075
7,833,256 197.807 722,450 522 621,906 9,412 94|
520,068 114,071 422,568 33,052 3,043 1,092,802

Credit equivakent amounts reflect the emounts that result from translating the Group's contingent lisbilities and commitments into the risk equivalent of
loans, using credit conversion Factors prescribed by SAMA. The Credit conversion factor is meant to capture the potential credit risk related to the exercise of
that commitment. Impaired loans and advances and allowances for credit losses are all within the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

MARKET RISK

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market variables such as commission

rates, foreign exchange rates, and equity prices. Management classifies exposures to market risk into cither rading, non-trading or banking book.

The market risk for the trading book is managed and monitored uging a Value ar Risk (VaR) methodology. Market sk for the non-trading book is managed
and monitored using a combination of VaR, stress testing and sensitivity analysis.
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1) MARKET RISK - TRADING BOOK

The Board of Directors has set limils for the accepable level of risk in managing the wading book. In order to manage market risk in the trading book,
Management applies a VaR methodology daily to assess the market riskk positions heid and also to estimate the potential economic lose based on a 5o of
assumptions and changes in market conditions.

A VaR methodology estimates the potential negative change in the market value of a portfolio at a given confidence level and over s specified time harizon.
The Group uses simulation models to asscss the possible changes in the market value of the trading book based on historical data. VaR models are usually
designed to measure the market risk in & normal market envirenmenl aod therefore the use of VaR has limilstions because It is based on hisworical
correlations and volatilitics in market prices and assumes that the Auure movements will follow a statistical distribution.

VaR that Management uses is sn estimate, using a confidence level of 99% of the potential loss that is not expected to be exceeded if the current market
positions were Lo be held unchanged for one day. The usc of 99% confldence level depicts that within a anc-day horizon, losses excecding VaR figure should
occur, on Average, not more than once every hundred days.

The VaR represeals the risk of portfolios at the close of a business day, and it does not sccount for any lasses that may occur beyond the defined confidence
interval. The actual trading resuls may differ from the VaR calculations and, in panticular, the calculation docs ot provide s meaningful indicavion of profits
and losses in stressed market conditions.

To overcome the VaR limitations mentioned above, Management maintains a framework of non-modeled limits that show potential loss for a given change in
a market factor and makes no assumption about the behaviour of market factors. Furthermore, Maoagement employs stop loss limits on market risk positions
and carries out stress tests of its portiolio to simulate condittons outside notmal confidence intervals. The potential losses occurring under stress fest
conditions are reported regularly 1o the Asset and Liability Committes (ALCQ) for review,

The Group’s VaR rolated information for the year ended December 31, 2011 is as provided below. Total VaR takes into account comelations across asset
classes and eccordingly it is not the total of individeal VaR.

Foreign exchange Speciat Commission Forelgn Exchange Overall
rare risk nare rigk Farwa, Risk
2011 (VaR)
As at December 31 58 176 12 246
Average for the year 163 174 19 156
Maximum 1,021 539 160 1,77t
Mmimum 11 68 5 84
Farelgn exchange Speciol Commission Foreign Exchange Overall
raqle risk rale risk Forwards, Bisk
2010 (VaR)
As at December 31 242 97 146 485
Avernge for the year 38| 695 40 1,116
Maximum 1,072 1,881 1,845 4,798
Minimum 38 78 56 172

b) MARKET RISK - NON-TRADING OR BANKING BOOK

Market risk on non-trading or banking positions mainly arises from comnission rate, fareign currency exposures and equity price changes.

) COMMISSION RATE RISK

Commission rate risk &rises from the possibility that changes in commission rates will affect cither the fair vatues or the future cash flows of the finencial
instruments. The Board of Dircclors hes established commission rate gap limits for stipulated periods. Management mouitors positions daily and uses
hedging stratégies to cnsure maintenance of positions within established gap limits.

The following teble depicts the scasinivity to a rezsonable possible chenge in commission mtes, with other variables held constant, on the Group's
consolidated income statement or equity. The semsitivity of the income is the effect of the assumed changes in commission rates on the net commission
income for one year, based on the [loating rate non-irading financial asseis and financial liabilities held at year end including the effeat of hedging
instruments, The sensitivity of equity is calculated by revaluing the fixed ratc available for sale financial assets, including the effect of any associated hedges
at year end for the effect of d changes in commission rates. The sensitivity of equity is analyzed by maturity of the asset or swap.
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Banking book exposures are monitored and analyzed in currency concentrations end relevant sensitivities are disclosed in SAR million below:

r=ailgall esscycannlll =150}

201
Increase! (decrense) in Sensitivity of special MM
cy basis golats — 6 months or less| 6 012 months|  1-5¥rs | Over SYesrs
@ ™ : : : :
s G 1 [ ks
5 - -
- = B R R
2019
Sensitivi
Currengy. lncm.w‘_ (dcc'mam) in S:::::‘? of‘ spocial 6 moaths or less | 6 1012 months 1-5Yrs Over 5Years
5
EUR (’js) “ : : : )
SAR 25 659 (365) (71) (833) (2,514)
(25) {659) 365 71 831 2,514
o H - N

The exposure 10 the effect of various risks associated with fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market commission rawes on the Group's financial position

and cash flows i3 managed.

The Board of Direciors seis limits on the level of commission mte re-pricing mismatch that may be undertaken. These fimits are maornitored daily by the
Group's Treasury. The Group is exposed 10 conmission rate risk as a result of mismatches or gaps in the amounts of assets and liabilities and off the
consolidared stsiement of financial position mstruments that mature or re-price tn a given period. This risk is managed by matching the re-pricing of sssets
and liabilities 1hrough risk management strategies. The iable below summarises the Group's exposure to commission rale rigks. Includad in the Lable are the
Girpup's assets and liabilities a1 carrying amounis, categorised by the earlier of the contractual re-pricing or the maturity dates,

Non
Rithin 3 Fr012 fiws Over $ commission
201 Months Months Jedry Years bearing Total
Assels
Cash and balences with SAMA 3,051,819 - - - 1,916,798 5.968,777
Due from banks and other financial
institutions 22,683 - - - 599,183 612,866
Investments, nel 3,595 958 4,757,407 1,418,293 663,176 67,702 11,501,536
Loans and advances, nct 19,810,258 9,027,419 8,332,181 575,441 - 37,745.2%9
[nvestment in an associale - - - - 17,750 11,750
Property and equipment, net - - - - 489,499 439,499
Other assets - - - - 1,212,025 1,212,015
Total 26,480,878 13,784,816 10,750,474 1,238,617 5,293,957 57,548,752
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Non
Within 3 3012 Il Over 5 commission
Lisbilities and shareholders® equity Months Monifis Years Years bearing Total
Due 10 banks and other financial
institutions 882,316 24,214 188 - 704,373 1,611,091
Customers’ deposits 19,562,627 5,434,108 627,157 - 19,400,545 45,024,437
Other liabilitics - - . - 1,004,992 2,004,902
Subordinated debt - 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000
Sharcholders’ equity - - - - 7408,322 7,408,322
‘l'otal Babilities and share holders'
equity. 20,444,943 6,958,322 627,345 - 19,518,142 57,548,752
Commisslon rate sensitivity - financlal
position gap 6,015,935 6,826,504 10,123,129 1,238,617 (24,124,185) -
Commission rate sensitivity 1,182,128 74,642 (791.481) (465,290) - -
Total commission rate senaltivity gap 7,218,064 6,901,146 9,331,648 713,327  (24,224,185) -
Cumulxtive commission rate
sensitivity gap 7,218,064 14,119,210 23,450,858 14,224,185 - -
Non
Within 3 EXLEN fwos Overs  commission
2010 Months Months ears Yeax bearing Lot}
Asuels
Cash and balances with SAMA 2,449,965 - - - 2,543,131 4,599,698
Due from banks and other  Hnancial
institutions 201,727 751 - - 106,403 308,881
Envestments, net 9,917,663 1,559,815 234,569 8,519 31,099 11,751,665
Loans and advances, net 22,224 834 8,553,576 4232997 11,572 - 35038979
Property and equipment, net - - - . 20,000 20,000
Investment in an associate - - - - 495,216 495216
Other nssets . - - - 1,267,974 1,267,974
Total 34,794,189 10,114,142 4,467,566 36,091 4,470,425 53,882,413
Non
Within 3 Jiral2 ltos Cwer 5 commission
LizbRities and shareholders’ equity Months Months years Tears bearing Total
Duae 10 bartks and other financial
instiutions 2,230,617 115,388 - - 511,007 2,857,012
Customers' deposils 19,392,666 5,281,894 71,612 - 16,857,447 41,603,619
Other lisbilities - - . - 1,534,826 1,534,826
Subordinated debt - 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000

Shereholders” equity - - - 6,386,556 6,386,956

Total listllitles and share holders'

equity, 21,623.28) 6,897,282 71612 - 25,290,236 53,882,413
Commission rate sensitivity - financial
position gap 13,176,906 3,216,360 4,385,954 36,091  (20,819.811) -
Comniission rate sensitivity 1,668,669 (512,759)  (1,012,664) (143,246) -
Total commission rate sensithvity gap 14,839,575 2,704,101 3,383,290 (107,855) (20,819,811) -

Cumulative commimrion rate
seusitivity gap 14,839,575 17,541,676 20,926,966 20,819,811 -
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Commission rate sensitivity gap represents the net notional amounts of off statement of financial position financial instruments that are used to manage
commission rate risk.

The effective yield of a monetary financial instrument is the yield thet the Group earns from its clients taking imo consideration the contractual commission
rale.

1} CURRENCY RISK

Currency risk represents the risk of change in the value of financial instruments due to changes in foreign cxchange rates. The Board of Directors have sei
limits on positions by currencies, which are monitored daily. Hedging strategies are also used lo ensure that pesitions are maintained within these limits.

The table below shows the currencies to which the Group has a significant exposure as at year end on its non-trading monetary assets and liabilitics and
forecasted cash flows. The analysis caleulates the effect on the income statement (due o the fair value of the currency sensilive non-trading monetary assets
and liabilitics) of 2 patential movement in the foreign currency against SAR, with all other variables held constant. A positive effect shows a potemial
increase in consolidated income or equity, whereas a negative effect shows a potential net reduction in consolidated income or equity.

2011
Change In Effect on
Chrrency exposure Curpency Rate (%4) Net Income
5 (1,066)
USD 5 1,066
s )]
EUR
(5 8
[ 16
GBP ® 16
5 8
JPY
) )
5 590
Oth
s &) (590}
2010
Change in Effect on
Currency exposure Cumency Rate (%) Net Income
5 (26.207)
UsD (5) 26,207
5 13
EUR
(5) (13)
5 24
GBP
5 (29)
5 (23)
Y 5 23
5 358
Orhess ) (358)

Exposure 1o the cffects of fluctuations in prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on the Group's financial position and cash flows is managed by the
Board of Directors setting limits on the level of exposure by cumrency and in lotal for both ovemight and intra-day positions. These limits are monitored daily.

At the end of the year, the Group had the follow!ng significant net exposures derominated fa forelgn currencies:

Long/ (short)

SAR' 000

21 2010
US Dollar (21,315)  (524,146)
Euro (167) 258
Pound Sterling (313) 475
Japanese Yen 160 (452)
Others 11,309 7,156
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itl) EQUITY PRICE RISK

Equity price risk refers to the risk of a decrease in the fair valucs of equities in the Group’s non-trading investment portiolio as a result of reasomable possible
changes in levels of equity indices and the value of individual stocks.

The Group docs not have significant exposure to Equitics.
LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its financial liabilitics that are settled by delivering
cash or other financial sssets. Liquidity risk can be causcd by market distuptions or credit downgrades, which may cause certain sources of funding to dry up
at short notice. To mitigate this risk, management has diversified funding sources and assets arc managed considering liquidity positions to maintain a
healthy balance of cash and cash equivalents and readily marketable securides.

i) Matrity profile of assets and Liabilitles

The tsbles below summarise the maturity profile of the Group’s assets and liabilities. The contracrual maturilies of assets and lisbilities have been determined
on the basis of the remaining period to contractual maturity date as al year ¢end and do not tke into account the effective maturities as indicated by the
Group's deposit retention history. Management monitore the maturity profiic to ensure that adequate liquidity is maintained. The daily liquidity position is
monitored and regular liquidity stress testing is conducted under a variety of scenarios covering both normal and more severe market conditions. All liquidity
policies and procedures are subject to review and approval by ALCO. Daily reports cover the liquidity positon of both the Bank and other gperaring
subsidiaries. A summary report, including any exceptions and remedial action taken, is submitied rogularly to ALCO.

It accordance with 1he Banking Control Law and the regulations issued by SAMA, the Bank maintains a statutory deposit with SAMA equal to 7% (2010:
7%) of total demand deposits and 4% (2010: 4 %) of savings and time deposits, In addilion to the statutory deposit, the Bank also maintains liquid reserves
of no less than 20% of its deposits lisbilities, in the form of cash, Saudi Jovernment Development Bonds or assets which can be converted into cash within a
period not cxceeding 30 days or the Bank may raise additional funds through repo facilities aveilable with SAMA against securities issued by the Saudi
Government up to 75% of the nominal value of bands held.

(i) The maturity profile of assets and Uabilities at year end Is as follows;

No fixed Within 3 31012 Tro§ Over §
pliik] mglurlpy Monghs Months Years Years Total
Assels
Cash and balances with SAMA 2,258 502 3,710,275 - - - 5,968,777
Due from banks and other financial institutions 590,183 21,683 - - - 612,866
[ovestments, net 67,702 3,578,208 4,757 407 2,418,293 680,926 11,502,536
Loens end advences, net 3,035,868 16,449,232 9,027,419 8,385,516 847,264  37,745299
Investment in associate 11,750 - - - - 17,750
Property and equipment, nct 489,499 - - - - 489,499
Onher assets 1,211,025 - - - - 1,212,025
Total 7,671,329 13,760,398 13,784,816 10,803,809 1,528,190 57,548,752

No flred Within 3 31012 Il Over $

maturfty Monilts Months Years Years Toval
Liabilities and shareholders’ eqully
Due to banks and other financial institutions 704,374 882,316 24213 138 - 1,611,091
Customers” deposits 21,314,308 17,648,937 5,434,107 627,085 - 45,024,437
Onher liabilities 2,004,902 - - - - 1,004,902
Subordinated debt - - - 1,500,000 - 1,500,000
Shareholders” equity 7,408,312 - - - - 7,408,322
Tota) 31,431,906 18,531,153 5,458,320 1,121173 - 57,548,752
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2010

Assets

Cash and balances with SAMA

Due from banks and other financial
ingtinations

Investments, net

Loans and advances, net

Investment in associate

Property and equipment, net

Qthor asscts

Total

Liabiiitles and shareholders’ equity

Due to banks and other financial
institutions

Customers” deposits

Cther fiabilites

Subordinated debt

Sharcholders’ equity

Total

No fived Within 3 3012 fiwl Over
oraturite Months Months Years Years Totqf
2,228,225 2,771,473 - - - 4,999,698
106,403 201,727 751 - - 308,881
31,099 4,035,727 2,472,265 4,666,544 546,030 11,751,665
2,877,092 17,441,533 8,455,666 5,803,171 461,517 35,038,979
20,000 - . - - 20,000
495,218 - - - - 495 216
1,267,974 - - - - 1,257,374
7,026,009 24,450,450 10,928,682 10,469,715 1.007 547 53,882,413
511,007 2,130,617 115,388 - - 2,857,012
19,155,185 17,094,928 5,281,894 7612 - 41,603,619
1,534,826 - - - - 1,534,825
. - - - 1,500,000 1,500,000
6,186,956 - - - - 6,386,956
27,587,974 19,325,545 £397.282 1,612 1,500,000 53,892,413

The cumulative maturity of commitments and centingencies is given in note |9 (d) of the consolideted financial statements,

i} Annlysis of financial iabilities by remalaing contractual maturities

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's finencial liabilities 2t year end based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations. As
special commission paymeats up to contractual maturity are included in the table, lotals do oot malch with the consolidated statement of financial position.
The contraciual maturities of fiabilitics have been determined based on the remaining period ai year end to the contractusl maturity dato and do not take into
sccount the effective expected manurities, The Group expects that many customers will not request repayment on the carliest date the Group could be required
10 pay and therefore the tabl¢ does not reflect the expected cash flows indicated by the Group's deposit retention history.

8

Financtal Lisbllities

Due to banks and other financial instimtions
Customers’ deposits

Subordinatcd debts

Degivatives

Contractual amounts payable

Contractual amounts receivable

Total undlscounted Nnanchal Linbiities

2010

Due to banks and other financial institutions
Cusiomers’ deposits

Subordinated debts

Denivati

Contractual amounts payable

Contractual amounis receivable

Toinl undiscounted financial liabilitres

No flxed Within 3 3o 12 I3 Over $
mgturify mouths months warg Years Total
704,374 883,322 24,424 190 - 1,612,310
21,314,308 17,692,850 5,452,921 748,178 - 45,238,287
- 116 41,548 324073 1,738,742 1,104,479
. (94,889) (326,091) (917,028) (44,902)  (1,382910)
- 91,757 307,604 884,732 48,840 1,332,933
22,018,682 18,573,186 5,530,406 1,040,145 1,742,680 48,905,069
511,007 2,234,130 115,787 - - 2,860,924
19,155,185 17,140,186 £330,674 77,222 - 41,703267
- 2134 30,393 406,162 1,822,900 2,259,689
- (5,709} (25,146) (288,311} (5,941) (325,107
- 2,433 1t,808 296,122 10415 320,778
19,666,192 19,371,274 5,463,516 491,195 1.827,374 46,819,551
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FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Determlnation of fair value and the fair value hierarchy

Management uses the following hierarchy for determining acd disclosing the fair value of financial instruments:

Level |: quoted prices in active markets for the same instrument (i.2. without modification or repacking);

Level 2: quoted prices in active markets for similar assets and liabilities or other valuation techniques for which all
significant inputs are based on observable market data; and

Level 3: valuation rechniques for which significant inputs sre net based on observable market data.

2011

Einaocial assets Levell Level2 Total
Derivative financial instruments - 396,724 396,724
Financial assets held as FV1S 11,110 - 11,110
Financial itvestments available for sale 432,201 176,686 608,888
Total 443,312 573,410 1,816,722
Financiad isbiitics

Derivative financial instruments - 395,763 395,763
Total - 395,763 395,762
2010

Finsucial asscts Level | Leve{2 Total
Derivative financial instruments - 297,821 297,821
Financial assets hold as FVIS 55,844 59,734 115,578
Financial investricnts available for sale 457,865 560,943 1,018,808
Total 513,709 918,498 1,432,207
Financial tigbilities

Derivative financial instruments - 295,132 295,132
Total - 295,132 295,132

Fair value is the amount for which an asse! could be exchanged or a lishility sertled between knowledgeable, willing partles in an arm'’s length mansaction.

The fair values of financial instruments inchided in the staternent of financial position, except for those held to maturity, &her investments held at amoctised
costs and customers’ deposits that are carried a1 amortised cost, are nod significantly different from the carrying values included in the consolidsted financial
statements. The estimated fair values of other investments held at amortised cost and held-to-maturity investments are based on quoted market prices, when
available, or pricing modds in the case of certain fixed rate bonds. The fair values of these investments are disclosed in note 6. The fair value of loans and
advances held at amortised cost and commission-bearing customers’ deposits are not significantly different from their book values since the current market
commission rates for similar financial assets are not significantly different from the contracted rates, The fair vahies of due from banks and other financiai
ingtitutions and due to financial institutions are not significantly different from the carrying values since the underlying amounts for these calegories are for
shorter durations which indicaies that their booking rates are nol significantly differezt from the current market rates. The fair value of subordinated debt
approximates carrying value sitice this is a floating rue liability with commission rates re-priced every six months.

The fair values of derivatives are based on Lhe quoted market prices wherever available or by using the appropriate valuation models. The totsl amount of the
changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated income statement, which was estimated using valuation technique, is SAR 3 million (2010: SAR 2
million).

The value obtained from a valuation model may differ from the wransaction price of a financial instrument on transaction date. The difference between the
trangaction price and the model value is commonly referred to as ‘day one profit and loss’. It i3 either amortised over the life of the ransaction, deferred umil
the instrument’s fair value can be determined using market observable data or realised through disposal. Subsequent changes in fair value are recognised
immediately in the comsolidated income statement without reversat of deferred day one profits and losses.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In the ordinary course of its activities, the Group transacts business with related partics. The related party transactions are performed on an am’s leegth
basis, Banking transactions with related partics are governed by limits set by the Banking Control Law and regutations issued by SAMA.

The balances at reporting date, resulting from such transactions are as follows:

ABN AMRO Bank N.V. 2001 2010
Due from banke and other financial institwtions 481,966 55,486
Investenents 180,823 239,205
Due to banks and other financial institutions 25,137 59,586
Commitments and conlingencics 59,403 268,848
Assoclates & other mnjor shareholders and their affilintes entitfes with significant influeace:

Loans and advances 526,939 511,549
Customers” deposits 4,652,541 4,715,626
Commitments and contingencics 1,807 1,219
Bank’s mutunl funds snd employees’ post-employment benefit plan;

[ovestments 28,184 26,86
Customers’ depaosits 104,289 648,687

Other major shareholders represen! sharcholdings {excluding the non-Saudi shareholder) of more than 5% of the Bank's issued share capital. Income and
expenses pertainiig 10 ransactions with related parties included in the consolidated financial stalcments are as foilows:

Special commission income 6,591 20,806
Special commission cxpense 50,738 105,298
Fees from banking services, net 6,081 5,459
Pees from management services 14,404 17,684
Genersl and administrative expenses 620 506
Direclors' rememeralion 2,814 2,77
Compensation paid 10 kay management personnel (all short-term employee

benefits) 25,406 31,917

Key management personnel are those persons having responsibility and authority for formulating strategies and direcling and controlling the aclivities of the
Group.

CAPITAL ADEQUACY

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to comply with the capilal requirements sct by SAMA and to safeguard the Group's ubility to continuc as
a going concern by maintaining a strong capital base.

Management monitors the adequacy of its capital using ratios established by SAMA. These ratios expressed 43 a percentage, measure capital adequacy by
comparing the Oroup’s eligible capital with its consolidated statement of financial position assets, commitments and contingencies and notional amount of
derivatives at amounts weighted io reflect their relative risk in line with the standardised approach prescribed under the Basel I accord as modified by
SAMA . In accordance with the regulations promuligated by SAMA, benka in the Kingdom arc expected to meet a mmimum required capital adequacy ratio
of 8% .

The components of risk weighted assets (RWA), capital and ratios are as follows:

2001 2010
Credit Risk RWA 48,758,662 45,351,771
Opesational Risk RWA 3,711,900 3,614,300
Market Risk RWA 602,262 1,163,798
Total RWA 53,072,824 50,175,869
Tiec | Capitad 1018443 6,352,775
Tier 1 Capital 1,791,846 1,849,530
Total Tier 1 & IT Capital 8,810,289 B.202,305
Capital Adequacy Ratio %
Tier I 13.22 12.65
Tier [ + Tier I 16.60 1635

43



37

a)

b)

Saudi Hollandi Eanik G P cesilgall wcagounsil «Z1igll

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
Amounts in SAR'000

INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT AND BROKERAGE SERVICES

The Group offers investment management services 10 its customers that include the management of investment funds with 1otal assets of SAR 1.94 billion
(2010: SAR 2.61 billion) in consuftation with professional investment advisors. The financial statements of these funds are not consolidated with the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. The Group's investment in these funds is inchuded in availablc for sale investments, Fees eamncd from
management services are disclosed under “related party transactions”. Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as ssets of the Group and,
therefore, are not included in the consolidated financial statements.

STAFF SHARE BASED PLAN RESERVE

In January 2008, the Group launched an equity scitled share-based payment plan for executives and senior employees {digible employees). o accordance
with the provision of the plan, s approved by the Board of Directors in their meeting held on 10 Dhu-ai-Qa'dah 1428H (corresponding November 20, 2007)
and SAMA in their letter dated 26 Safar 1429 H (corresponding March 4, 2008), such eligible employees will receive shares in the Bank if the following
terma and conditions are met:

- Eligible employees are required to continue 1heir employment with the Group for & period of three years from the grant date; and

- The Group achieves specific growth thresholds as approved by the Board of Directors where each (hreshold will accrue a certain value of shares
10 the cligible employees.

The Fund has purchased 2.15 million Bank’s shares for a total consideration of SR 114 million during 2008 which are held by it in fiduciary capacity wntil
the shares vest to (he eligible employees. At the vesting date the ownership of these shares will pass lo the employees. The soquisition of shares was financed
by the Bank and the amount is included in Other Assets.

Under the provisions of the plan, the Group at no point becomes the legal owner of the underiying sharss, Until such time as these shanes vest they will not
carry voting rights. As per the plan, SHC manages the Staff Share Plan Fund (the Fimd) which will operate in accordance with the terms and conditions as
approved by the Board of Directors in their above referred meeting and by SAMA in their above referred fetter. Any further modifications in the terms and
conditions of the plan require prior approval of SAMA. Due to restrictions regarding its operations as agresd by SAMA the results and assets and lisbilities
of the Fund ar¢ not consolidated in thesc consolidated financial statements.

The number of sheres granted is calculated in accordance with the performance based formula approved by the Board of Directors and is subject to npproval
of the remuncration commitiees, however, in accordance with the plan the total value of the plan will not exceed SR 114 million in § years starting from
January 2008

This plan is to be execuied in three tranches over a peried of nine years with & vesting peried of three years. The first (ranch was granted in January 2008 and
vested in January 201 1. The Bank hag granted the second trench of the plan in March 201 | which is currently under its vesling period. The Plan details arc as
follows:

Cranf {1 2008 Grant in 20]1
Plan Commencement dale January 2003 January 2011
Value of shares granted on the grant date 32,342,500 8,684,950
Fair valuc per share at grant date 5115 2969
Vesting period 3 years from the grant date 3 years from the grant date
Methed of senlement Bank shares Bank shares
Current stams Fully vested {a) Under vesting period (b)

551,478 shares ultimately vested in January 2011 and were transferted o the eligible employees. This resulted in SAR 24.2 million being transferred from
the staff share plan reserve to retained eamnings. At the same time SAR 24.2 million wes also written off to retnined camings from the balance of the loan
provided 1o the Staff share plan fund.

During the year a further grant on similar terms and conditions was mede to key management and senior employees that will vest in March 2014, A total
number of 292,521 shares were granted with a fair value at the grant date of SAR 8.7 million.

The following is the movement in number of sharcs in grant at December 31, 2011:

Number of shares
Beginning of the year 551,478 601,354
Granted during the year 192,521 -
Shares vested during the year (551,478) -
Forfeited during the year (20,290) (49,876}
Shares cxpected (o vest at the reporting date 172,231 551,478
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 201 and 2010
Amounts in SAR'000

PROSPECTIVE CHANGES IN THE INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING FRAMEWORK

The Group has chosen nol 10 early adopt the smendments and revisions to the following standards which have been published and are mandatory for
compliance for the Group’s accounting years beginning after January i, 2012,

Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive focome (Amendments to [AS 1). The amendmenta require (hal;

- an entity present separately the items of other comprehensive income (hat would be reclassified 1o profit or loss in the future if certain
conditions are met from those that would never be reclassified to the consolidated Income stalement;

- donot change the cxisting option 1o present profit or loss and other comprehensive income in two statcments; and

- change the title of the statement of comprehensive income 1o the consolidated income statement and ather comprehensive income.

However, an catity is still allowed to use other titles. The amendments do not address which items are presented in other reciassified. The comprehensive
income or which items need to be requirements of other IFRSs continue 10 apply in this regard. Effective date January 1, 2012,

[FRS 9 Financial [nstruments Standard ssued in November 2009 (TFRS 9 (2009)) [FRS 9 (2009) is the first standard issued as part of a wider project to
replace [AS 39. [FRS 9 (2009) retains but simplifies the mixed measurement mode] and establishes two primary measurement categeries for financial assets:
smortised cast and fair valuc. The basis of classification depends on the emsity’s business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial
asset. The guidance in [AS 39 on impairment of financtal assets and hedge accounling continues 0 apply. Prior periods need not be restated if an entiry
adopts the standard for reporting periods beginning before January 1, 2012, Effective date January 1, 2015,

TFRS 9 (2010) adds the requirements related to the classification and measurement of financial liabilities, and derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
to the version issued in November 2009, [t also includes those paragraphs of LAS 39 dealing with how 10 measure fair value and accounting for derivatives
embedded in a contraet that contains a host that is not a financial asset, es well as the requirements of IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives.

IFRS £0 Consolidated Financial Statements inroduces a new approach to determining which investees should be eonsolidated and provides a single model to
be applied in the control analysis for all investees. An investor controls an invesies when:

- itis expased or has rights to variable returus from its invelvement with that investee;
- it has the ability to affect those returns through its power over that investee; snd
- there is a link between power pnd reumns.

Control i re-assessed es facts and circumstances change. IFRS 10 supersedes [AS 27 (2008) and SIC-12 Consolidation — Special Purpose Enlities.

[FRS 13 Fair Value Measurement replaces the fair value measurement guidance contained in various [FRSs with e single source of fair value measurement
guidance. It defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring Fair value and sefs out disclosure requirements for fair value measurements. It explaing
how to measure fair value when it is required or permitted by other [FRSs. It does not introduce new requirements to measure assets or liabilities al fair value,
nor does it eliminale the practicability exceptions to fair valuc measurements thar currently axist in centain standards. Effective date is Januvary 1, 2013,

IAS 27 - Separate Financial Staisments (201 1): revised version of IAS 27 applicablc from | January 2013 now only deals with the requirements for separete
financial statementy, which have been cardied over largely unamended from [AS 27 - Consvlidared and Scparate Financial Statemnents. Requirements for
consolidsted financial statements are now coniained in IFRS 10 - Consclidated Financial Saicmenis.

[AS 28 - [nvestments in Associates and Joint Ventures supersedes LAS 28 (2008) is applicable from | January 2013. The majority of these revisions result
from the incorporation of Joint Ventures in to [AS 28 (201 1) and the fundamental appracch Lo account for equity accounted invesiments has not changed.

The Group has chosen not 1o carly adopt the follswing amendments 1o existing [AS / TFRS issucd by IASB and is currently assessing their imnpact;

Amendments to LAS | - Presentatior of Financial Statements: aments [AS 1 rovise the way other comprehensive income is presented and is applicable from
Janeuary 1, 2013,

Amendment 1o IFRS 7 - Financial lostruments Disclosures: amends the disclosure requirements in IFRS 7 to require informaton abour all recognised
financial instruments that are s¢1 ofT in accordance with paregraph 42 of [AS 32 and also require disclosure of informalion about recognised financial
instruments subject to enforceable master nefting arrangements and agreements even if thase are not set off under {AS 32, This amendment is applicable from
January |, 2013,

Amendmetits 10 LAS 32 - Financist Instruments Presentation: amends [AS 32 to clarify certain aspects relating to requirements on ofF setting and is
applicable from January 1,2014.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

Amounts in SAR'000

COMPFARATIVE FIGURES

Certain prior year figures have been reclassified (o conform to the current year’s presentation.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS' APPROYAL

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Dircctors on 70 & Safar 1432H (cormesponding to Japuary XXX, 2012).
BASEL Il PILLAR 3 DISCLOSURE

Under Basel I pillar 3, certain quantitative and qualitative disclosures are required. These disclosures will be made availsble on the Group's website
wuw.shb.ecom.sa or included in the annual report as required by SAMA_ Such disclosures are not subject 1o review or sudit by the external auditors,
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